
 

For a live stream of the meeting, go to: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81652777559 

Agenda for the Goshen Common Council 
6:00 p.m., March 24, 2025 Regular Meeting 

Council Chamber, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, IN 
 
Call to Order by Mayor Gina Leichty 
 
Pledge of Allegiance led by Kimberly Guevara 
 
Roll Call:  
Linda Gerber (At-Large)  Phil Lederach (District 5)   Doug Nisley (District 2) 
Megan Peel (District 4) Donald Riegsecker (District 1) Matt Schrock (District 3) 
Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large) 
Youth Adviser Tageeya Galeb (Non-voting)  
 
Approval of Minutes: Dec. 16, 2024 Regular Meeting  
 
Approval of Meeting Agenda 
 
Privilege of the Floor 
 
1)  City financial report and update (Clerk-Treasurer’s Office) 
 
2)  Ordinance 5219 – Establishing a Mobile Integrated Health Fund 
 
3)  Ordinance 5218 – Amend Ordinance 5198, 2025 Compensation for Civil City and Utilities 
Employees, to Add Positions Eligible to Receive the Tool/Work Show/Inclement Weather Gear 
Allowance 
 
4)  Public hearing and approval of Lease Agreement – Between Goshen Municipal 
Building Corporation (lessor) and City of Goshen (lessee) for the new municipal pool at 
Shanklin Park 
 
5)  Resolution 2025-06 – Approving and Authorizing the Execution of a Lease Agreement 
between the Goshen Municipal Building Corporation and the City of Goshen, Indiana for the 
Municipal Pool Project 
 
6)  Ordinance 5216 – County Road 40 Annexation 
 
6)  Board Appointment – Recommendation for CRC board appointment 



 

For a live stream of the meeting, go to: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81652777559 

 
Elected Official Reports 
 
Adjournment 



                                                                            

1 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
Minutes of the DECEMBER 16, 2024 Regular Meeting  

Convened in the Council Chambers, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 
 
At 6:01 p.m., assisted by Mayor Leichty, Lydia Jordan (a Chamberlain Elementary School student) called the 
meeting to order and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre to conduct the roll call. 
Present: Linda Gerber (At-Large)  Phil Lederach (District 5)  Doug Nisley (District 2)  
 Megan Peel (District 4)  Matt Schrock (District 3)     

 President Brett Weddell (At-Large) 
  Youth Adviser Tageeya Galeb (Non-voting) 
Absent:  Donald Riegsecker (District 1) 
 
 
Approval of Minutes:  
There were no Council minutes available for review/approval. 
 
Approval of Meeting Agenda: 
Mayor Leichty presented the agenda as submitted by Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre with the recommendation to move 
agenda item #10, Ordinance 5210, to #2 on the agenda. Council President Weddell moved to approve the 
agenda as amended. Councilor Peel seconded the motion. The motion passed 6-0 on a voice vote. 
 
Privilege of the Floor: 
At 6:04 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited public comments regarding matters not on the agenda. 
 
Nancy Graber of Goshen said today marks Day 437 since Oct. 7, 2023. She then said, “I continue to ask this City 
Council to consider having a ceasefire agreement as a City.” 
The Mayor thanked Graber for her comments. 
 
There were no further public comments, so the Mayor closed Privilege of the Floor at 6:05 p.m. 
 
 
1)  Results of the Kid Mayor and Kid Council election and swearing in students for service in 2025  
Wendy Clark, the Parent Liaison at Model Elementary School and the Kid Mayor coordinator, said this year, 30 
fourth-graders applied for Kid Council positions. The field was narrowed down to eight finalists. In the end, two 
candidates tied for the position of Kid Mayor in the citywide election. 
Clark said the students did a fantastic job making their videos and their speeches. The videos were viewed by their 
classes before the students voted. Two will serve as Mayor and the six finalists will serve on the Kid Council. 
Clark said the 2025 Kid Mayors will be Whitney Gwaltney from Parkside, whose ran on a platform of providing for 
people who lost everything, and Calla Hobbs from Model, whose platform was reducing food waste. 



                                                                            

2 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
The 2025 Kid Council members were announced as: 
Lucas Graber from Model, whose platform was providing books for students' homes 
Camila Gallardo Sandoval from Prairie View, whose platform was cleaning the Elkhart River 
Victoria Serrano Muro from Prairie View, whose platform was reducing littering 
Ezra Shenk from Waterford, whose platform was increasing bluebird habitats 
Jones Lehman from Parkside, whose platform was reducing litter to beautify Goshen 
Lydia Jordan from Chamberlain, whose platform was nutritious eating 
Mayor Leichty then swore in the members of the Kids Council and the Kid Mayors. 
 
 
2)  Ordinance 5210, An ordinance of the City of Goshen authorizing the issuance of waterworks revenue 
bonds for the purpose of providing funds to pay the cost of certain additions, extensions and improvements 
to the municipal waterworks of said City, the issuance of revenue bonds to provide for the cost thereof, the 
collection, segregation and distribution of the revenues of said works, providing for the safeguarding of the 
interests of the owners of said bonds, other matters connected therewith, including the issuance of notes in 
anticipation of bonds, and repealing ordinances inconsistent herewith (First & Second Reading) 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction on First Reading of Ordinance 5210. Council President Weddell 
asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5210 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Nisley moved to approve Ordinance 5210 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Before the Council was Ordinance 5210, an ordinance of the City of Goshen authorizing the issuance of up to 
$8.5 million of waterworks revenue bonds for the purpose of providing funds to pay the cost of certain 
additions, extensions and improvements to the municipal waterworks, the issuance of revenue bonds to 
provide for the cost thereof, the collection, segregation and distribution of the revenues of said works, providing for 
the safeguarding of the interests of the owners of said bonds, other matters connected therewith, including the 
issuance of notes in anticipation of bonds, and repealing ordinances inconsistent herewith. 
The City previously issued certain “Waterworks Revenue Bonds of 2016,”dated June 30, 2016, originally 
issued in the amount of $6,599,000, now outstanding in the amount of $4,198,000, and maturing semiannually 
over a period ending Jan. 1, 2036, which Outstanding Bonds constitute a first charge upon the Net Revenues (as 
hereinafter defined) of the waterworks. Other than the Outstanding Bonds, there are no other bonds, pledges or 
obligations payable from the Net Revenues of the waterworks. 
Upon approval, the City “shall proceed with the construction of the Project in accordance with the preliminary plans, 
specifications and cost estimates heretofore prepared and filed by consulting engineers employed by the City, which 
preliminary plans, specifications and cost estimates … are hereby adopted and approved and by reference made a 
part of this ordinance as fully as if the same were attached hereto and incorporated herein. The estimated cost of 
construction of the Project is expected not to exceed the sum of $11,000,000, plus investment earnings on the BAN 
(bond anticipation notes) and bond proceeds, without further authorization from this Common Council.” 
Also, “the City shall issue, if necessary, use its BANs for the purpose of procuring interim financing to apply on the 
cost of the Project and to pay costs of issuance.” 
 



                                                                            

3 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
DEC. 16, 2024 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 5210: 
City Utilities Engineer Jamey Bontrager-Singer provided an overview of the project which will require the 
issuance of this bond though Ordinance 5210. He said the project came about while City staff was establishing an 
inventory of the piping materials in Goshen’s water service lines as part of satisfying a nationwide mandate by the 
EPA to determine if water systems have lead piping and where it was, and ultimately how to remove it. 
Bontrager-Singer said he presented a preliminary engineering report to the Council almost a year ago as well as to 
the State. He said the state responded by providing $2.5 million in funding in the form of a 35-year loan at 0% interest 
with the opportunity to borrow an additional $2.7 million dollars at a low-interest rate, which is currently around 2%. 
He said these funds can only be applied toward water service line replacements. 
Bontrager-Singer said the City’s project will involve funding for 458 service line replacements and the funding also 
can be applied toward water main replacements. He said City staff thought this was a good opportunity to combine 
the replacement of water mains and needed work in the City’s northside neighborhoods that have very old water 
mains and sewer and sanitary sewer and storm sewer mains that need to be replaced. He added that the sanitary 
and storm mains were not eligible for the State funding, and those will be funded out of City Department funds. 
Bontrager-Singer said the neighborhoods that are benefiting from this project include Northside, Wilden, Dickerson 
Landing, Riverside, and the Clinton and Berkey neighborhoods. He said the Clinton Berkey neighborhoods were 
added to provide some additional service line replacements and to ensure the City was replacing aging infrastructure. 
Bontrager-Singer said the City contracted with Arcadis, an engineering firm that is currently in the process of 
designing a bid package for this project. which will bid in early February and close in late March. He said Arcadis is 
also assisting the City with community outreach to help the City get into the homes to replace service lines. He added 
that the project will result in replacements in disadvantaged neighborhoods, but at no cost customers. 
Councilor Peel asked if the project would only replace lead and not galvanized piping. Bontrager Singer said no, 
the project will replace lead connectors as well as galvanized piping of a certain age. 
Mayor Leichty clarified that that “lead could be released only if the Ph in the water is not at the levels it should be.” 
Bontrager-Singer agreed and said, “It would be the change in Ph that would potentially cause that.” 
Mayor Leichty invited a staff presentation on Ordinance 5210 from  Eric Walsh, a principal with Baker Tilly 
Municipal Advisers. 
Walsh said, “I won't reiterate everything other than this is a very attractive financing package, obviously getting a 
grant along with a 35 year 0% loan, and then the remainder being at a subsidized rate to the State Revolving Fund. 
We estimate right now that rate will be between 2 and 2.2 5% for the portion that does have interest associated with 
it.  Probably the number one question is, your current water rates do support the repayment of both the 0% and the 
estimated 2%. There isn't an additional water rate increase or anything being requested to fund this.” 
Mayor Leichty invited questions from the Council. There were none. 
At 6:21 p.m. Mayor Leichty invited questions from the audience. There were none. 
Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre asked if it would be OK for City Director of Public Works & Utilities Dustin Sailor to 
comment on the results of the bond rating process. 
Sailor said, “Before us is a water bond, and the bond rating we just had evaluated by Standard & Poor’s (Global 
Ratings) was for wastewater, and we received an A+ rating, which was good for the City and good for the Utility.” 
 
The Mayor conducted a voice vote. Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5210 on First Reading by a 6-
0 margin, with all Councilors present voting yes at 6:21 p.m. 



                                                                            

4 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilors gave unanimous consent to proceed with Second Reading of Ordinance 5210 
Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre said City Utilities Engineer Bontrager-Singer had indicated that the Second Reading of 
Ordinance 5210 could not take place tonight. He asked if City Attorney Bodie Stegelmann could clarify the issue. 
City Attorney Stegelmann said “Speaking with bond counsel there was discussion that First Reading would be 
tonight, and then a second reading, if necessary, in January. I don't think there’s any prohibition for going to Second 
reading if there’s unanimous consent of the Council.” 
 
Since there were no Council objections to the Second Reading of Ordinance 5210, Council President 
Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5210 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Schrock moved to approve Ordinance 5210 on Second Reading. 
 
At 6:23 p.m., Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors or members of the audience had additional questions or 
comments. They did not. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5210 on Second Reading by a 6-0 margin, with 
all Councilors present voting yes at 6:23 p.m. 
 
 
3)  Presentation and request for support: For Lacasa’s development of Lot 3 of the Lincoln Avenue 
Subdivision into an eight-unit affordable income housing project  
Mayor Leichty called for a presentation on the request. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Before the Common Council was a request from Lacasa, an Elkhart County non-profit organization that provides 
housing, education and community revitalization, for the Common Council’s support to develop a multi-family 
housing project on property owned by the City in the 700 block of East Lincoln Avenue. 
In a Dec. 16, 2024 memorandum to the Council, City Redevelopment Director Becky Hutsell wrote that In order to 
allow for the addition of a turn lane at Olive Street and Steury Avenue along Lincoln Avenue, Redevelopment 
purchased several homes in the 600 and 700 block of East Lincoln and completed demolition of the properties 
several years ago. Since that time, she wrote that the City has created a three-lot subdivision, titled the Lincoln 
Avenue Subdivision, with Lot 3 identified as a potential development lot. 
Hutsell wrote that Lacasa approached the City with an interest in developing Lot 3 into an eight (8) unit 
affordable income housing project. She wrote that Lacasa’s intent is to apply for two different types of state 
funding for this project and there is a deadline of March 1 for the application. 
At the Dec. 16th City Council meeting, Hutsell said Lacasa staff members have been asked to present their vision for 
the project and the approvals that are necessary in advance of submitting their application. She indicated that if the 
Council is supportive of this project, an agreement will be brought to the Dec. 30 Council meeting for approval, 
allowing Lacasa to submit their application by Jan. 2 to the City Plan Commission. 
Hutsell further wrote that all land within the Lincoln Avenue Subdivision was placed into the City of Goshen’s name, 
instead of the Redevelopment Commission’s name, which is why the request is coming before the Council. 
 



                                                                            

5 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
In a Dec. 10, 2024 letter to the Council, Brad Hunsberger, Lacasa’s Vice President of Real Estate Development, 
wrote that Lacasa has been working with Becky Hutsell and City staff on a development plan for the non-
floodplain land in the 700 block of E. Lincoln. He wrote that Lacasa was proposing to build an 8-unit building 
on this parcel of land. 
In order to facilitate its application to the Indiana Housing & Community Development Authority (HCDA) for HOME 
funds to build the building, Hunsberger wrote that Lacasa needs to achieve site control of the property and make 
necessary modifications to the existing situation to facilitate construction of the proposed building. He wrote that this 
process at this location more particularly includes the following: Partial vacation of platted setback and re-zoning the 
lot from R-1 to R-3. He indicated proposed site control would be a memorandum of intent to lease the land contingent 
on Lacasa receiving HOME funds from IHCDA during the 2025 funding round. 
Hunsberger also wrote that Lacasa intends to apply to the City Plan Commission by its Jan. 2 deadline for a Jan. 21 
public hearing on the petition. After Plan commission, the petition will come back to the Council for action in the 
February meeting cycle. He wrote that the overall goal is to have this entire process completed by March 1 and for a 
submittal for HOME funding to IHCDA by the due date of March 17, 2025. 
Hunsberger provided the following project schedule: 
 December 2024  Site control with City Council 
 January 2025 Plan Commission hearing on rezoning and partial vacation of platted setback 
 February 2025 Approval by City Council of the vacation and rezoning 
 March 2025 Application to IHCDA for HOME funds 
 June 2025 Award announcement from IHCDA’s board of directors 
 November 2025 Assuming award of the HOME funds we will get release of funds sometime in Nov. 2025 
 January 2026 Submittal of plan for technical review by city 
 April 2026 Break ground on project 
 December 2026 Completion of building and residents moving in 
 
Dec. 16, 2024 PRESENTATION TO COUNCIL & REQUEST FOR SUPPORT OF LACASA PROJECT: 
Deputy Mayor Mark Brinson summarized the memorandum to the Council from City Redevelopment Director 
Becky Hutsell, who could not be present. Brinson said: 
“In order to allow for the addition of a turn lane at Olive and Surry Avenue, along Lincoln Avenue, Redevelopment, 
purchased several homes in the 600 and 700 block of East Lincoln, and completed the demolition of properties 
several years ago. Since that time, we have created a three-lot subdivision titled the Lincoln Avenue Subdivision with 
Lot 3 being identified as a potential development lot. 
“Lacasa has approached the City with an interest in developing Lot 3 into an 8-unit affordable housing project. Their 
intent is to apply for two different types of State funding for this project and there is a deadline of March 1st for the 
application. At the Dec. 16 Council meeting, we have asked that they present their vision for the project and the 
approvals that are necessary in advance of submitting their application. If the Council is supportive of this project, an 
agreement will be brought to the Dec. 30 Council meeting for approval. allowing them to then submit their application 
by Jan. 2 for Plan commission.” 
Brinson added, “One important note is that all land within the Lincoln Avenue subdivision was placed into the City 
Goshen's name instead of the Redevelopment Commission's name, which is why this request is coming before the 
Council.”  



                                                                            

6 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Brinson then introduced, Brad Hunsberger, Lacasa’s Vice President of Real Estate Development, to make a 
presentation. 
Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre asked if Council President Weddell and Councilor Peel had to declare a potential 
conflict of interest before the request for support was heard. 
Mayor Leichty responded, “We're only hearing a presentation tonight. The Council isn't being asked to make a 
decision … the request would come at the Dec. 30th meeting.” 
Aguirre said, “OK. It was my understanding that they were going to be asking for the Council’s support.” The Mayor 
said, “They are presenting that request, but there will not be an action item.” 
Council President Weddell said, “For what it’s worth, I serve on the board of La Casa. It's an unpaid position and I 
get no benefits from it but the pleasure of being on the board.” 
Councilor Peel said, “And I do work for La Casa and I do get paid.” 
Brad Hunsberger then presented an overview of Lacasa’s project. He said he was appearing before the Council to 
“describe the project, the process before us and ask for informal support for moving forward with the more formal 
approval at the meeting on the 30th.” 
Hunsberger said Lacasa wants to build four 2-bedroom and four 1-bedroom apartments. He said it would be a  
compact building that fits on narrow City lots because of the floodplain area. He added that Lacasa was proposing a 
99-year lease from the City for the property in order to obtain the necessary funding. He invited questions from the 
Council. 
Councilor Schrock said initially when the houses on the property were torn down, he was excited about this area 
being kept as green space. However, after having met with Lacasa and City staff, he said the project will be a great fit 
for that area. In addition to the road reconstruction and other improvements, Councilor Schrock said the project will 
make East Lincoln Avenue an even better looking main artery in the downtown Goshen. And he thanked those who 
developed this project. 
Council President Weddell said there will still be a lot of green space because the area is in a floodplain. He added 
that Rock Run Creek runs through the area along with the Pumpkinvine Trail and the project will be a good addition. 
Councilor Nisley asked if the vegetation in the flood plain will be kept trimmed. Hunsberger said that would be up to 
the City, it would not be Lacasa’s responsibility. 
At 6:31 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited comments from the audience. 
Brian Garber of Goshen said he owns property on either side of the proposed complex and also is a member of City 
Redevelopment Commission, but was speaking tonight personally and wanted to express some concerns. 
Garber said the area where the apartments will be built is now being used as a staging area for East Lincoln Avenue 
road work which will take two more years to complete. He said, “We will have to worry about where, if they want to do 
that at the same time, we've got to move the staging area somewhere.” 
Garber also said that if Lacasa gets the funding and moves forward with the project he hopes the road cut for the 
water and sewer connections will be coordinated so that there is no need to tear up brand new, totally rebuilt road 
afterwards. Garber added, “I think it's a fairly good plan. There was a little lack of communication with the 
Redevelopment Commission. I did not realize we did not still own this property, that we could bid it out. It's been put 
into the City oof Goshen's name.” 
Council President Weddell asked Deputy Mayor Brinson to explain how that happened. 
 
 



                                                                            

7 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Brinson said, “I can't tell you exactly why it happened that way, but that's when it was subdivided and then re-titled. It 
was all put in in the City's name, I think, probably because quite a bit of that (area) will remain as stormwater 
detention, and that is definitely Civil City (jurisdiction), not Redevelopment.” 
Council President Weddell said, “I would agree ... and I'm sure there was some point in the process in the last 
couple of years. And to be honest with you, I don't remember that.” 
Garber said it “no big deal” and he said Lacasa’s project would not adversely affect his plans. 
Mayor Leichty thanked Garber for his comments. 
Speaking as a Lacasa board member and not Council President, Brett Weddell said, “I think it's important to think 
about all of the projects that the Council has worked towards in the last number of years. We would say they’re 
market rate projects, which I think are essential for our community. They're much needed.” 
Weddell continued, “This is another example of something that's a different demographic that's still needed in our 
community, more of workforce housing. So, I would encourage the Council to consider that we have been working 
towards market rate (housing), but now this is another essential form of housing that the City still needs.” 
Responding to Brian Garber’s comments, Hunsberger said Niblock intends to stop using the property as a staging 
area this year and will find a new space to stage for the Steury Avenue portion of the overall project. 
Hunsberger said Lacasa’s doesn’t want to tear apart a brand new road and is very much planning on the water and 
sewer connections to be part of the road project. He said it will a sidewalk along Lincoln Avenue, water and sewer 
both domestic and fire suppression, and the curb cuts off of what will be a new road.  
Mayor Leichty said she appreciated the coordination. And she said that concluded discussion of this matter. 
 
 
4)  Resolution 2024-21, A Resolution Condemning Hate Speech and the Distribution of Hate-Based Materials  
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction of Resolution 2024-21, A Resolution Condemning Hate Speech and 
the Distribution of Hate-Based Materials. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read 
Resolution 2024-21 by title only, which was done. 
Weddell/Lederach made a motion to approve Resolution 2024-21. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Before the Council was Resolution 2024-21, A Resolution Condemning Hate Speech and the Distribution of 
Hate-Based Materials. The “whereas” clauses of Resolution 2024-21 stated the following: 

• Goshen is committed to fostering a community of respect, diversity, and inclusion for all residents; 
• Recent incidents involving the dissemination of hate speech and hate-based materials, such as fliers 

promoting discriminatory ideologies and recruiting new members to their organization, have been reported in 
Goshen; 

• These acts are inconsistent with the values of our city and contribute to a climate of fear, division, and 
intimidation, undermining the social fabric of our community; 

• At the November 18, 2024, meeting of the Common Council Goshen Mayor Gina Leichty read a “Statement 
… on Recent Hate-Organization Fliers Found by Residents” in response to the distribution of hate-based 
materials which included: “Goshen stands united against any form of discrimination, intimidation, or 
harassment … Hate-filled messages like those distributed this weekend have no place in our community;” 



                                                                            

8 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
• The Goshen Common Council previously pledged support for “non-discrimination and support for equality 

under the law within our City and our schools” and added its “voice and commitment to fostering and upholding 
an atmosphere of unity and non-discrimination in the City of Goshen” in Resolution 2016-45 passed on Dec. 
29, 2016; and 

• In 2009 the Community Relations Commission of Goshen developed core principles as a guide for relating in 
our City which were then updated in 2019. 

If the Resolution 2024-21 was passed, it would be resolved by the Common Council: 
1. Endorsement and Adoption: The Goshen Common Council endorses and adopts Mayor Leichty’s November 18, 
2024, statement on “Recent Hate-Organization Fliers Found by Residents.” 
2. Condemnation of Hate Speech: The Goshen Common Council unequivocally condemns any form of hate speech, 
including the distribution of hate-based fliers, and strongly condemns all forms of hate speech, hate crimes, and the 
activities of hate groups operating within the City of Goshen. 
3. Encouragement of Reporting: The Goshen Common Council encourages residents to report any instances of hate 
speech or hate-based material to local law enforcement. 
4. Education and Awareness: The Goshen Common Council commits to supporting educational initiatives to combat 
hate and promote understanding among all community members. 
5. Law Enforcement: The Goshen Common Council will encourage local law enforcement to investigate and address 
the distribution of hate-based materials in accordance with state and federal laws. 
6. Commitment to Inclusion: The City of Goshen reaffirms its commitment to being a welcoming, inclusive community 
that respects and values diversity and reaffirms the core principles of the Community Relations Commission of Goshen 
and Resolution 2016-45. 
 
DEC. 16, 2024 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION 2024-21: 
Mayor Leichty invited a presentation from Councilor Gerber, who drafted the resolution. 
Councilor Gerber began by stating that she wanted to introduce an amended version of Resolution 2024-21. In the 
fourth paragraph, she wrote that the Council last met on Nov. 19, 2024 when the actual Council meeting date was Nov. 
18, 2024. She said the Clerk-Treasurer distributed a corrected version of the resolution (EXHIBIT #1). 
 
Councilors Gerber made a motion, seconded by Councilor Nisley, to substitute the amended version of 
Resolution 2024-21. The motion passed 6-0 on a voice vote. 
 
Councilor Gerber then discussed the genesis and rationale for Resolution 2024-21. She said the weekend prior to 
the Council’s last meeting, on Nov. 18, “fliers from a known hate organization containing hate speech and recruiting 
new members were circulated in our community, which was met with an immediate outcry from the community, and a 
swift condemnation in the Mayor's response.” 
Since that time, Gerber said she has worked with Councilor Weddell to come up with a statement “that both condemns 
the hate speech, and affirms what Goshen is a community and acknowledges the past work of the Council and the  
CRC’s (Community Relations Commission) statement of principles, as well as the Mayor's statement.” She 
acknowledged the help from Councilors Lederach and Peel. 
 



                                                                            

9 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilor Gerber continued, “Since the draft resolution was published in the (Council) meeting packet we have 
received multiple letters of support from members of the community, all urging us to vote in favor of this resolution.” 
Councilor Gerber then read the operative (resolved) paragraphs of the resolution aloud, so that others in the room 
could hear these words as well. She asked other Council members to join her and Councilor Weddell in voting to 
affirm the resolution. 
Council President Weddell said he appreciated working with Councilor Gerber on the resolution and said, “I agree 
with everything that's in this resolution.” He credited Councilor Gerber for her work on the resolution. 
Councilor Lederach said, “I don't think I'm under any illusion that a statement like this actually prevents further hate 
speech. It's going to happen, but I think it's important that as a body, we make a statement in support of those who are 
targeted by the hate speech, and for those of us who care deeply about those who are targeted. And as a personal 
note, I include that that's five of my children.” 
Council President Weddell responded, “It's a little too close to home.” Councilor Lederach said, “Way too close.” 
Youth Adviser Tageeya Galeb said, “When these fliers were brought out, the high school was also kind of like nervous 
because of them and the Mayor coming out with your statement really calmed the nerves of some students at the high 
school. And I really appreciate you guys like actually coming up and like gathering and like notifying the City, that you 
guys don't agree with this because I feel like it was the concern for a lot of students, and it calmed their nerves of 
hearing, like their leaders in the city, like being on their side and defending them.” 
Mayor Leichty thanked the youth adviser for her comments. 
 
At 6:43 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited comments from the public. 
Kyle Richardson of Goshen thanked the Council for considering the resolution, adding, “I think it is important to speak 
out against this kind of hate speech and I appreciate that it sounds like it's going to have broad support. I hope we'll be 
unanimous in rejecting this kind of hatred in our City.” 
John Dolezal of Goshen thanked Councilors for the resolution, which he said was a first step in response to a “growing 
tide of hate activity.” He added, “I've studied enough history to know that Indiana is not immune to marches through 
cities of some of these groups, and I don't know what the law is currently, that would prevent either distribution of fliers 
or marches … I do believe in free speech and the ability of people to express their views, but these marches tend to 
be more for the purpose of intimidation or to incite violence. and I would like to see if there are some teeth that could 
be added to any motions to prevent that type of activity ever happening in our town.” 
Council President Weddell said, “I mentioned this at the last meeting that before my time on City Council … some 
members of this group attended the Council meeting and Council at that point passed an ordinance prohibiting the 
wearing of masks and hoods in our Council meetings.” 
Cathy Cripe of Goshen said, “I just want to commend the Council for this and the main reason is because if we don't 
say something, it implies consent with what's going on. And so, I think it's great that you've made this stance.” 
Glenn Null of Goshen said the Council passed an ordinance in 1998 to ban the wearing of masks or hoods in public, 
but the statute was struck down by a federal court. He added, “If you're going to tell the whole story, tell the whole 
story, please.” Council President Weddell responded, “I didn't know it, but thank you for letting me know.” 
Null continued, "I don’t have a problem with the resolution, but I don't want people to keep pounding you guys to pass 
new ordinances that they (Klan members) can't come into town – that they can't be here, and they can't be there. 
That's the one thing they want you to do. They want you to ban them so that now they can drag you through the courts.” 
 



                                                                            

10 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Null said, “Sometimes the best thing to do is ignore. I think, one of the last rallies they had at the Courthouse … all the 
cities and towns that sent officers in the past said, ‘Well, we'll have a token there. You're on your own for safety.” And 
that's what they did, they basically ignored them. The last time they were in town at the Courthouse the County had to 
allow them to use it, because if you don't and they'll sue you and they win again.” 
Null concluded, “Let people know that the odds of you actually passing something that will be effective and hold up in 
court is slim to none.” Null also stated that it can be difficult to define hate speech because people don’t always agree 
on what hate speech is. 
John Stoltzfus of Goshen thanked the Councilors for engaging in difficult issues, “whether around the economics of 
the City or around the mood, the tone, and the values of the City. I am certain that it's not easy work.” He said having 
seen thee fliers, been part of some conversations about them and having neighbors and friends subject to such threats, 
“I'm delighted that there is robust work being done to redress these things.” 
Stoltzfus then read comments from Sally Ahmed, a friend and English teacher in Gaza. In her message to the Council, 
Ahmed wrote: “I would like to say to the Goshen City Council, real change begins when we put the well-being of the 
community at the heart of our decisions. It is important to listen to the needs of the people and encourage unity and 
cooperation among families and neighbors as this is the foundation for building a strong and thriving community. We 
hope you continue working to improve daily life for everyone and remain committed to the values that unite us.” 
 
At 6:51 p.m., Mayor Leichty closed the public comment period. 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors were ready to vote. They indicated they were. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Resolution 2024-21, by a 6-0 margin, with all Councilors 
present voting yes at 6:51 p.m. 
 
 
5)  Ordinance 5207, Amend Title 2, Civil Rights, Article 1, Community Relations of the Goshen City Code  
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction on First Reading of Ordinance 5207, Amend Title 2, Civil Rights, 
Article 1, Community Relations of the Goshen City Code. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-
Treasurer to read Ordinance 5207 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Peel moved to approve Ordinance 5207 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Before the Council was Ordinance 5207, which would make changes in the ordinance that established the 
City’s Community Relations Commission, which seeks to enhance Goshen’s quality of life through programs and 
initiatives that serve all residents. The Commission strives to eliminate racism and discrimination, strengthen 
neighborhood bonds, address pressing issues, and advocate for health, safety, and wellness. The CRC fosters 
respectful interactions and inclusivity within Goshen’s diverse community. It also helps direct those with potential 
discrimination concerns to the proper agencies for help. 
According to the “whereas” clauses of Ordinance 5207: 

• The Goshen Common Council created a Community Relations Commission in 2004 as part of Ordinance 
4201, as amended by Ordinance 4339, Ordinance 4526, and Ordinance 5178. 



                                                                            

11 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
• The Common Council seeks to amend and clarify the powers and duties of the Community Relations 

Commission. 
• Ordinance 4201, as amended by Ordinance 4339, Ordinance 4526, and Ordinance 5178, are codified in 

Goshen City Code Title 2, Civil Rights, Article 1, Community Relations. 
If Ordinance 5207 was passed, it would be ordained by the Common Council that Goshen City Code Title 2, 
Article 1 would be substantially amended. Upon passage a number of current responsibilities of the CRC would 
be eliminated and a number of duties added and the Mayor no longer would be required to hire a CRC director 
who would be approved by the Commission. More specifically: 

• The CRC’s authority to investigate housing discrimination would be eliminated. 
• The CRC would be empowered to actively engage with and support neighborhood association groups within 

the City of Goshen to foster a sense of community through various strategies, facilitating communication 
among existing associations, serving as a resource for neighborhood groups address neighborhood-specific 
concerns and enhancing overall neighborhood well-being. 

• The CRC would seek to foster overall community engagement within the City of Goshen through activities 
that would include identifying emerging community issues and proactively developing strategies to address 
them, organizing town hall meetings, public forums, and listening sessions, as well as creating task forces or 
working groups as needed to address specific community needs and build trust, strengthen connections 
between the City and its residents, and foster a culture of open communication and shared responsibility. 

• The CRC could formulate policies to effectuate the purpose of this ordinance and make recommendations to 
the Common Council to effectuate such policies. 

• The CRC would receive complaints alleging practices that are contrary to the public policy stated in this 
ordinance and upon receipt, the Commission, via the Mayor or the Mayor’s designee, shall refer said 
complaints received hereunder to the Indiana Civil Rights Commission. 

• Notwithstanding the provisions of I.C. § 22-9.5-4-8, the City of Goshen, because of lack of financial and other 
resources necessary to fully administer enforcement proceedings and possible civil actions under this Article, 
would elect to refer all formal complaints of violation of sections of this Article by complainants to the Indiana 
Civil Rights Commission for administrative enforcement actions pursuant to I.C. § 22-9.5-6. 

• The Mayor would no longer be required to appoint a Community Relations Director “subject to the approval 
of the Community Relations Commission.” 

• The CRC would no longer receive and investigate practices alleging discrimination, and all such references 
to this prior role would be deleted from the ordinance. 

• In addition, the CRC would no longer be required to submit to the Mayor and Council an annual report of the 
Commission’s activities, including the number of complaints. 

 
DEC. 16, 2024 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL ON FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE 5207: 
Mayor Leichty gave an extensive overview of the former and current status of the Community Relations Commission,  
its operation and current focus as well as its the proposed changes set forth in Ordinance 5207. Her key points: 

• Before Mayor Leichty took office in June 2023, the positions of Director of Administrative Affairs, 
Communications Director and Community Relations Manager in the Mayor's Office were all open, allowing 
the incoming mayor to fill the positions and shape their functions. 



                                                                            

12 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
• As part of her commitment to making sure that the City of Goshen embraced and listened to the community 

at all levels, the Mayor reshaped staffing around community relations so that the Director of Administrative 
Affairs and Communications Director worked with and supported the Community Relations Manager. 

• The Mayor attended and helped lead CRC meetings to ensure the CRC got off to a strong start. This included 
expanding the CRC’s role and making it more proactive rather than reactive. 

• To ensure the CRC was listening to the community, the Mayor ensured the CRC had monthly outreach 
activities facilitated by the Mayor’s staff. This included involvement of children to lead the Pledge of Allegiance 
at Council meetings, coordinating Kid Council and Youth Council activities and developing a Neighborhood 
Mini Grant program to empower residents to organize gatherings. 

• The Mayor said neighborhood association involvement and activities declined during and after the COVID-19 
pandemic, so the Community Relations Manager engaged in outreach and engagement to current or potential 
association leaders and encouraged CRC members and mayoral staff to attend neighborhood association 
meetings and events to learn about issues and concerns. 

• The CRC and Mayor’s Office also collaborated in organizing the first International Women’s Day Luncheon 
and essay writing contest, and CRC members and CRC members and the Kid and Youth councils participated 
in Memorial Day Parade and the Elkhart County Fair Parade. The CRC also sponsored the Indigenous 
People's Day event. 

• One of the CRC’s newest initiatives was neighborhood walkabouts, which enabled Commission members, 
Councilors, Redevelopment Commission members and City staff to learn about neighborhood concerns, 
including over road changes and blight.  

• The CRC also was available to respond to residents, whether it was about a discrimination issue or access to 
City services and to guide people seeking help. 

• In the process of evaluating how the CRC guides people who need resources, the Mayor said it became clear 
is that the CRC was structured to serve as a “quasi-judicial body” to hear and respond to concerns about 
discrimination. She said that role was “beyond what a city of our size would typically manage, and had not 
ever been practiced … in the entire history of the CRC.” 

• In discussing this issue with the City Attorney, the Mayor said she became concerned “because we had never 
utilized that aspect, and because we didn't have a comprehensive body of trained people to manage such an 
important legal consideration for people that we could actually jeopardize people's cases if they had a 
legitimate discrimination case. We could actually cause more harm than good.” 

• The Mayor said that concern led to conversations about “what would it look like if we were to remove that 
component, and it's a big chunk”. She said she also “wanted to make sure that we were pointing people in the 
direction where we knew that there was trained support to handle the discrimination case and not leaving 
them to the uncertainty.” 

• The Mayor said she also learned that there was duplication in the CRC ordinance and the City’s Fair Housing 
ordinance. So, both were being brought to the Council tonight for consideration, adding, “Our intent is simply 
to clean up some language that has existed for a very long time.” 

• The Mayor said there would “continue to be, a dedicated staff person that's appointed by the Mayor to serve” 
as CRC manager along with support from others in the Mayor’s Office. 

Mayor Leichty invited City Attorney Stegelmann to outline the changes proposed by Ordinance 5207. 



                                                                            

13 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Stegelmann said that Ordinance 5207 would require any discrimination claim received to be referred to the 
Indiana Civil Rights Commission. He said, “It's Legal Department's opinion that people would be best served by 
having their claims investigated and adjudicated in that body rather than the City trying to do that without a body that's 
properly trained, and with the experience to do that. So that's I guess the big picture; we want people that might have 
a claim to have their claim investigated in a proper manner.” 
Councilor Peel said there have been discussions for years about changing the ordinance that created the CRC. She 
said she has had discussions with CRC members, past and present, who believed “that the quasi-judicial parts of their 
responsibilities should not be a part of their responsibility; that they did not feel qualified. And I think that's important 
for people to understand who might be concerned about this being removed.” 
Councilor Peel said she would be happy to discuss this issue with people in the community, adding, “Once people 
understand that, they'll fully grasp the importance of removing this and making sure that we don't put anybody's case 
into jeopardy. That's the last thing we want to do, and we still want the CRC to be effective. We want them to have a 
clear purpose, and we want them to be able to help people with issues of discrimination by pointing them and being 
educated in the way that they can get help. And I think this is an important move.” 
Council President Weddell said, “I think one of the most important things that Mayor said is, as it's written it could do 
more harm than good. That is scary thought, and this has been a long process.” He said he recalls a meeting five or 
six years ago with then-Mayor Jeremy Stutsman, then-Councilor Julia King and CRC consultant Phil Thomas  about 
the value of amending the CRC ordinance to focus on community involvement and engagement. 
Councilor Peel said, “: I think it's important, too, that people understand in the community that the focus of civil rights 
is not going to be diminished. We are still talking about that. And if you read the roles and responsibilities in the 
ordinance, it's not just a neighborhood association focus. 
“There are many different aspects of the role. And as you can tell by the long laundry list of things that the department 
has accomplished over the year, they have been getting out on the ground; boots on the ground to get to know the 
communities, get to know people in the community. In order to get people to trust you to even listen to your issues of 
civil rights or discrimination. They have to know who you are; they have to trust you.” 
Peel concluded, “They have to know that the Community Relations Commission are people that they can trust, the City 
are people that they can trust. And if you don't get out there and talk to people and get in the community, they won't be 
able to do that. They won't even know who the CRC is.” 
Council President Weddell said he understands that the CRC was established as a quasi-judicial body because it 
was expected that the City would receive grant funding to carry out those functions. Council Peel said that was correct. 
Councilor Lederach said he had some comments, but first wanted to hear from the public. 
At 7:12 p.m., Mayor Leichty opened the public comment period. 
In response to the Council President’s perspective, former Mayor Jeremy Stutsman said that the CRC was 
established with legal and judicial responsibilities in hopes of securing grants and because state law required that 
language to be included. And that language has been in place for decades. He said that while he and former Mayor 
Allan Kauffman promoted and tried to grow the CRC “neither of us had the money to actually hire a professional 
mediator to do these things properly. So, the City has never implemented this.” 
Stutsman said “only a handful of complaints” have come to the CRC, adding, “I always thought it was wrong that the 
only scenario we had set up for people to bring these types of complaints forward were in a public meeting. That's not 
business for a public meeting. People need privacy. People need to be feel protected when they bring these things 
forward.” 



                                                                            

14 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Stutsman concluded, “So, I think that these changes are warranted. And I just think the value of the CRC, the value 
of the resolution you guys just passed shows where our community is and where we want to go, and we just need to 
keep heading in that direction.” 
Councilor Gerber said she appreciated the background and context of the CRC ordinance and the fact that its 
mandate was never truly fulfillable based on a lack of resources. “So, while it is very difficult for me to accept, I 
understand why a lot of that language you’re recommending the removal.” 
However, Councilor Gerber said she wanted to add back language regarding the role of the CRC director so that 
future mayors will also hire a director. She called on Mayor Leichty to conduct “a robust search for a director” who 
understands civil rights and discrimination to guide the work of the CRC. 
Councilor Gerber called on Councilors to restore ordinance language that specified that: “The Mayor may 
appoint a Community Relations Director subject to the approval of the Community Relations Commission. The Director 
shall serve at the pleasure of the Mayor, and may be dismissed with without cause. Attorneys and other employees 
and agents may be hired by the city as authorized by the CRC. The Goshen Common Council must appropriate funds 
for the payment of the director, attorneys, or other employees or agents before such individuals may commence work 
for the Commission. All such attorneys, employees, and agents may be dismissed with or without cause.” 
 
Councilor Gerber then made a motion to restore that language regarding the appointment of a CRC Director, 
with CRC approval, to Ordinance 5207. Councilor Lederach seconded the motion. 
 
Mayor Leichty responded that “the impetus for making that change is that this is the only departmental appointment 
that has a Board or Commission approval, and so in in keeping with consistency with other departments, we wanted 
to clarify that language ... So, I would not be in favor of reintroducing that language.” She also said that she didn’t 
believe the Council wanted to eliminate the director position. 
Councilor Lederach said it appeared that Mayor Leichty objected to the provision that a mayoral appointment was 
“subject to the approval of the Community Relations Commission.” He said perhaps the motion could just state that 
“The Mayor may appoint a Community Relations Commission Director … The director shall serve at the pleasure of 
the Mayor and may be dismissed without cause. 
Councilor Lederach said that wording would address the concerns of Councilor Gerber that the CRC director be 
part of the ordinance and part of the structure and satisfy the Mayor’s concerns. He said if the original motion failed, 
he would support this approach. 
 
Councilor Gerber then withdraw her motion and Councilor Lederach withdrew his second to the motion. 
 
Councilor Lederach then made a motion to add the following language to Ordinance 5207: “The Mayor may 
appoint a Community Relations Commission director. The Director shall serve at the pleasure of the mayor, 
and may be dismissed without cause.” Councilor Gerber seconded the motion. 
 
Councilors and the Mayor discussed the motion, noting that the Mayor already has the authority to fire any 
department head or director. Councilor Peel said, “I think that it's redundant. (But) I do feel like there's some 
compromises that may have to be made in order to relieve the fears of some people in the community, and if this is 
one that has to be made and brought back in, I agree with the amendment that Phil (Councilor Lederach) suggested.” 



                                                                            

15 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilors and the Mayor also discussed the difference between a CRC director and manager. The Mayor said both 
were appointed positions; the only difference was that a manager reports to a director. 
 
At 7:22 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited public comments on the amendment proposed by Councilors Lederach 
and Gerber. 
Glenn Null of Goshen said he would prefer that the ordinance state that the Mayor “shall” or “will” hire a CRC manager 
and not “may” hire one. He said, “In the past  a lot of promises have been made … and it didn't happen.” He said he 
would prefer the Mayor be compelled to hire a CRC manager. 
In response to a Council question about the difference between “may” and “shall,” City Attorney Stegelmann said, “I 
think Mr. Null is correct. It would tie the hands of the Mayor if the ‘may’ were to be changed to ‘shall.’ May is 
discretionary. Shall is a requirement.” 
Marilyn Torres of Goshen asked for a clarification regarding a CRC manager and director. The Mayor said it was just 
a change in the language. Torres asked about changing the amendment to “manager” instead of “director.” 
Torres said, “I think as a community member, it does feel like you are kind of taking the heart out of the CRC. I do 
understand why you're doing what you're doing, and I think you're trying to put heart back in, but I think perception is 
important in this process as well, and not everybody is here at this meeting understands the process that you all have 
already taken.” She also recommended “shall” instead of “may” regarding the hiring of a CRC manager. 
Cathy Cripe of Goshen, the current chair of the CRC, said commissioners discussed and agreed that the ordinance 
should be amended to eliminate duties that were never performed. She said only once has a person asked for help 
with a discrimination complaint.  
Cripe asked for clarification about when a director was added. The Mayor said that happened when the CRC previously 
had a contract person helping coordinate the CRC, so a position was added. Cripe said she believed commissioners 
would feel better adding back this provision. Cripe also praised the work of City staff. 
There were no further public comments.  
Councilors briefly discussed the motion, including substituting “may” for “shall.” 
Councilor Lederach said his only concern about “shall” is that it could be interpreted to require the Mayor to fill the 
position immediately, which could be a mistake. He said, “I'd be a little concerned about the “shall” dictating a timeframe 
because I think it getting the right person in the role is more important than somebody immediately.”  
Councilor Peel said she agreed with the comments by Cathy Cripe. She said, “It's important to have somebody in 
this position, and I think you know that we've seen it without a director and with a director, and I personally like it better 
with a director.” 
The Mayor clarified the purpose of the motion. Council President Weddell added, “The only way to prevent someone 
from being hired would be for us to change the salary ordinance and remove the position. We would have to, by 
legislative means, remove the position from the salary ordinance. As long as it's in the salary ordinance, the Mayor's 
office has the authority to hire that person.” 
Councilor Nisley asked Mayor Leichty how she felt about the motion. The Council President said that might soon be 
known. 
Mayor Leichty asked the Clerk-Treasurer to conduct a roll call vote on the motion by Councilor 
Lederach/Councilor Gerber to add the following language to Ordinance 5207: “The Mayor may appoint a 
Community Relations Commission director. The Director shall serve at the pleasure of the mayor, and may be 
dismissed without cause.” 



                                                                            

16 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
The motion by the Councilor Lederach/Councilor Gerber to amend Ordinance 5207 failed on a 4-3 vote with 
Councilors Gerber, Lederach and Peel voting “yes,” Councilors Nisley, Schrock and Weddell voting “no” and 
Mayor Leichty breaking the tie by voting “no” at 7:33 p.m. 
 
Councilor Gerber then made a motion to restore the following language to Ordinance 5207: “The Commission 
shall submit to the Mayor and Common Council an annual report of the Commission's activities, including the number 
of complaints filed with respect to each type of alleged discrimination, the number of cases in each category disposed 
of, the number still pending, and such other information as may be requested by the Mayor or Common Council, or, as 
the Commission may see fit to include.” Council President Weddell seconded the motion. 
 
Mayor Leichty said, “because we're removing the language that this is a quasi-judicial body, the CRC staff would be 
referring inquiries to another body, so we would not necessarily be entering that information ourselves. So, we might 
know if somebody had inquired, and we'd made a referral. I just want to be clear.” 
Councilor Gerber responded, “I think that information is relevant to retain and report upon.” 
The Mayor said, “But I'm saying they wouldn't be filing a report of discrimination with us anymore. So, we would be 
referring those to the Indiana State Board, so we would not be receiving those. We would be assisting a resident in 
making a complaint, filing a formal complaint with another body, so those complaints would not be coming to us.” 
There were further discussions with the Mayor and Councilors about what records the City would maintain. 
Councilors generally indicated they wanted to know about the information desired, even if the information about them 
was general, such as the number and type of referrals and complaints. 
Council President Weddell suggested that Councilor Gerber withdraw the motion and restate it. 
 
Councilor Gerber then withdrew her motion to further amend Ordinance 5207. And Council President Weddell 
withdrew his second to the motion. 
 
Councilor Gerber then made a motion to add the following language to Ordinance 5207: “The Commission 
shall submit to the Mayor and Common Council an annual report of the Commission's activities, including the 
number and type of complaints.” Council President Weddell seconded the motion. 
 
At 7:39 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited questions from the public about the motion.  
Former Councilor Julia Gautsche said it was very important to include in the ordinance that the Commission will 
provide an annual report to the Council and Mayor. She said the  report should include the number and type of 
complaints that came in, and what is still pending, and any other things that the Commission does. So, I just stand in 
support of bringing this back in to the ordinance.” 
 
Councilors indicated they were ready to vote on the amendment. Mayor Leichty asked the Clerk-Treasurer to 
conduct a roll call vote. 
 
The motion by the Councilor Lederach/Council President Weddell to amend Ordinance 5207 to add back 
language requiring an annual report by the CRC passed unanimously with all Councilors present voting “yes” 
at 7:41 p.m. 



                                                                            

17 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
At 7:42 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited general comments from the public about Ordinance 5207. 
 
Glenn Null of Goshen said he served for 12 years on the CRC, making him the second-longest serving commissioner. 
He clarified that the CRC never directly hired a director, but did hire a consultant who facilitated the commission’s work. 
He also clarified that the CRC never had power because the City failed to get grants; it wasn’t the CRC’s fault. 
Null said when the CRC received complaints in the past, they were referred to the State. Still, he said the CRC acted 
independently without City control and spent its money as it saw fit. He added, “If you gut it too bad ,you might as well 
fold the whole concept.” 
Mayor Leichty responded, “I just want to be clear and responding, there is no intention of gutting the CRC We are 
trying to strengthen this organization by adding additional City staff resources and intention and responsibilities to the 
role of the people that are working with the Community Relations Commission. 
“So, if anyone has that concern, I will assure you, in word and deed, that that is absolutely not the case. It is incredibly 
important that we're facilitating good communication throughout our City, and that we are not just waiting for cases to 
be brought to us. But we are out in the community soliciting input, building relationships and making sure that people 
feel comfortable and confident if they do have an issue, that there is a safe place for them to come.” 
Mayor Leichty many changes are being proposed, but this is an attempt to clarify the CRC’s role. 
City Attorney Stegelmann clarified that the proposed changes in the City’s Fair Housing Ordinance would also require 
the referral of those cases to the State Civil Rights Commission. He said a City staff member would help facilitate that. 
Former councilor Julia Gautsche of Goshen said even though Councilors already voted to exclude a reference to a 
CRC director, she felt it should still be mandated. She said, “I was on the Council before there was a director, and the 
Community Relations Commission often really struggled with direction because they're all volunteers. And so, I think it 
is very important that we have a director.” 
Gautsche also said when she was on the Council and a representative to the Community Relations Commission, the 
City collaborated with Lacasa for community outreach. She asked if this was still the case. 
Mayor Leichty said the City continues to collaborate with Lacasa in that regard to build relationships to neighborhood 
organizations. However, she said the City has taken a lead to establishing and maintaining those relationships. 
Gautsche said she agreed with that approach. She also encouraged meeting with leaders of all neighborhood 
associations at the same time to discuss shared issues. Mayor Leichty agreed, but said it has been “exceedingly 
difficult to get neighborhood leaders to respond to the invitations for those activities.” 
John Dolezal of Goshen said he supported the idea of having a director for the CRC. He also encouraged Councilors 
to lean into their microphones because “I kind of missed a lot of what was being said. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked Councilors if they were ready to vote. They indicated that they were. 
Although the Mayor conducted a voice vote, Council President Weddell asked for a roll call. 
 
On a roll call vote, Councilors passed Ordinance 5207 on First Reading by a 4-2 margin, with Councilors 
Nisley, Peel, Schrock and Weddell voting “yes” and Councilors Gerber and Lederach voting “no,” at 7:53 
p.m. 
 
There was not unanimous consent to proceed with Second Reading of Ordinance 5207, so the Mayor said 
Ordinance 5207 was tabled until the next Council meeting, now scheduled for Dec. 30, 2024. 



                                                                            

18 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Mayor Leichty called for a five-minute break. The meeting resumed at 7:59 p.m. 
 
 
6)  Ordinance 5208, Amend Title 2, Civil Rights, Article 2, Fair Housing of the Goshen City Code 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction on First Reading of Ordinance 5208, Amend Title 2, Civil Rights, 
Article 2, Fair Housing of the Goshen City Code. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to 
read Ordinance 5208 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Nisley moved to approve Ordinance 5208 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Before the Council was Ordinance 5208, which would amend Title 2, Civil Rights, Article 2, Fair Housing of 
the Goshen City Code. 
Essentially, it would remove sections of the City Code that designated the City Community Relations 
Commission as being responsible for investigating, conciliating, hearing, determining, ordering, certifying, 
or reporting on allegations of housing discrimination in the City. 
Instead, and because of lack of financial and other resources necessary to fully administer enforcement proceedings 
and possible civil actions under this Ordinance, all formal complaints of violation of this Article by complainants 
would be referred to the Indiana Civil Rights Commission for administrative enforcement actions and the 
Mayor or Mayor’s designee would refer all complaints to the Indiana Civil Rights Commission for purposes of 
investigation, resolution, and appropriate relief as provided for under I.C. § 22-9.5-6. 
Ordinance 5208 also would remove all language that outlined the policies and procedures for City enforcement 
of the Fair Housing Code. It also would clarify language on the coverage of individuals and impairment due to a 
physical condition. 
 
DEC. 16, 2024 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 5208: 
Mayor Leichty said Ordinance 5208 would resolve the “overlap” between the Fair Housing ordinance and the 
Community Relations Commission ordinance. She said City Community Development Specialist Theresa 
Cummings “helped us identify some of the needs that are necessary to make improvements in this language.” 
Cummings said that because the City is a Community Development Block Grant entitlement, it has to “affirmatively 
further fair housing. That's part of our certification to get the grant. And so, we have a Fair Housing ordinance as part 
of that, and every five years we do something called a Fair Housing Plan, which is an analysis of impediments, and we 
have one due in 2025, and it explains how we handle fair housing complaints.” 
Cummings continued, “So now is the perfect time to make these changes, because we need to tell HUD (Housing and 
Urban Development) how we're going to handle them. When I was at training in Indianapolis, through HUD in 
September, they had a Fair Housing board up on stage, and they talked about how for smaller entitlements the best 
course of action would be to file our complaints with Indiana Civil Rights Commission and let them handle them for us, 
because we definitely just don't have the resources and the staff with the proper training to do these.” 
Cummings said she worked with the Mayor’s staff to develop a fair housing complaint form which can allow 
complainants to check off  what type of discrimination they're experiencing. Cummings said the fair housing complaints 
will be directed to her and she will make sure that the Indiana Civil Rights Commission can follow up on them. 
 



                                                                            

19 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Cummings said any complaints “would have to be reported back to HUD because they want to know, and that's like 
every five years in our Fair Housing Plan .... So, at this point we don't have any complaints to report, but we do want 
to report on the process and how we're handling this.” 
Cummings said she has sent the form to the City’s HUD representative to make the person aware of the changes the 
City is making. She added, “So, I just want to make sure that we are covered legally across the board so that we can 
continue to get this grant.” 
 
Mayor Leichty invited questions or comments from Councilors There were none. 
 
At 8:03 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited questions or comments from members of the audience. There were none. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors were ready to vote. They indicated they were. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5208, Amend Title 2, Civil Rights, Article 2, Fair 
Housing of the Goshen City Code, on First Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting “yes” 
at 8:03 p.m. 
 
Councilors gave unanimous consent to proceed with the Second Reading of Ordinance 5208. 
 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction on Second Reading of Ordinance 5208, Amend Title 2, Civil Rights, 
Article 2, Fair Housing of the Goshen City Code. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to 
read Ordinance 5208 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Schrock moved to approve Ordinance 5208 on Second Reading. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if there were additional questions or comments from Councilors or anyone in the 
audience. There were none. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5208, Amend Title 2, Civil Rights, Article 2, Fair 
Housing of the Goshen City Code, on Second Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting 
“yes,” at 8:04 p.m. 
 
 
7)  Ordinance 5206, Amend Ordinance 4899, City of Goshen Building Department Fee Ordinance  
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction on First Reading of Ordinance 5206, Amend Ordinance 4899, City of 
Goshen Building Department Fee Ordinance. President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 
5206 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Peel moved to approve Ordinance 5206 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Before the Council was Ordinance 5206, which would amend Ordinance 4899, the City of Goshen Building 
Department Fee Ordinance. 



                                                                            

20 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Ordinance 5206 stated that: 

• Ordinance 4899, Building Department Fee Ordinance, as amended by Ordinance 4919 and Ordinance 
5001, establishes the various fees for permits, inspections, certificates, registrations, licensing, and other 
services provided by the City of Goshen Building Department. 

• City administration finds in necessary to increase the fees for the licensing and registration of electrical and 
mechanical contractors. 

If approved by the Common Council, it would be ordained that: 
Ordinance 4899, SECTION 6, Licensing and Registering of Contractors Ordinance, shall be amended to read as 
follows: 
6.01 Effective Jan. 1, 2025, the following fees shall be charged for the licensing and registering of contractors 
under the Licensing and Registering of Contractors Ordinance of the City of Goshen, Indiana, as amended from time 
to time: 
(A) Annual Electrical/Mechanical Contractor Licensing and Registration ......................... $119 
(B) Examination Administrative Fee ....................................................................................      $41 
This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, and adoption according to the laws 
of the State of Indiana. 
 
DEC. 16, 2024 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 5206: 
Mayor Leichty invited a presentation on Ordinance 5206 by City Building Commissioner Myron Grise. 
Grise said the Building Department was requesting fee increases for annual electrical and mechanical contractor 
licensing and registration. He said, “For many years it would go up automatically, and then in 2024, it was not. It was 
null and void. So, last year none of the rates went up on anything that we had in the Building Department.” 
Grise said the department needed to increase the licensing fees before January for contractors to renew their licenses. 
He said, “We're requesting to have the mechanical and electrical licenses to go up with inflation automatically.” 
Council President Weddell asked the old fee was. Grise said it was about $340 for a three-year renewal. 
Mayor Leichty said, “The Council had built in an automatic increase which stopped. So, what the Commissioner is 
recommending is that we continue to have an automatic increase that adjusts with inflation.” 
Council President Weddell asked if that was included in Ordinance 5206. 
Deputy Mayor Mark Brinson responded, “What you're looking at is just a one-year increase because we're looking 
comprehensively at fees throughout the City, including the Building Department. So, this is just (for one year) because 
we have to renew all these licenses.” 
Council President Weddell said he understood this would just be a one-year fix or adjustment. 
Councilor Gerber asked if this adjustment was in line with the City’s new fee structure. 
Brinson said, “This has been increased, just based on the rate of inflation last year, from what it was previously.” 
Councilor Gerber asked if it was possible the fee would need to be amended again. Mayor Leichty responded, “It’s 
possible, but I can't say That would be something for the Council to consider in 2025.” 
 
Mayor Leichty invited additional questions or comments from Councilors. There were none. 
At 8:07 p.m. the Mayor invited questions from the audience on Ordinance 5206. There were none. 
The Mayor asked if Councilors were ready to vote. They indicated that they were. 



                                                                            

21 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5206, on First Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all 
Councilors present voting “yes,” at 8:07 p.m. 
 
Councilors gave unanimous consent to proceed with Second Reading of Ordinance 5206. 
 
President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5206, Amend Ordinance 4899, City of 
Goshen Building Department Fee Ordinance, by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Nisley moved to approve Ordinance 5206 on Second Reading. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors or audience members had additional questions or comments. They did not. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5206, Amend Ordinance 4899, City of Goshen 
Building Department Fee Ordinance, on Second Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting 
“yes,” at 8:08 p.m. 
 
 
8)  Ordinance 5211, Revisions to Ordinance 5156 Accumulation of Materials To Increase the Maximum Fine 
that May be Imposed for a Violation  
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction on First Reading of Ordinance 5211, Revisions to Ordinance 5156 
Accumulation of Materials To Increase the Maximum Fine that May be Imposed for a Violation. President 
Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5211 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Schrock moved to approve Ordinance 5211 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Before the Council was Ordinance 5211, Revisions to Ordinance 5156 Accumulation of Materials To Increase 
the Maximum Fine that May be Imposed for a Violation. 
On April 17, 2023, the Common Council approved the underlying Ordinance 5156, Revisions to Ordinance 
4769 Accumulation of Materials. 
As an exercise of the City’s police powers, Ordinance 5156 was designed “to promote the public health, safety, and 
welfare and to protect the interests of City residents by regulating the accumulation, storage, collection, removal and 
disposal of solid waste so that conditions that create fire, health or safety hazards, harbor undesirable pests, or 
impair the aesthetic appearance of neighborhoods are prevented and eradicated.” 
Ordinance 5156 also was designed to help the City “operate an orderly and clean public recycling collection site” 
and would expand Ordinance 4769, Accumulation of Materials, to apply to the operation of public recycling drop-off 
site(s) operated by the City. 
Ordinance 5156 was brought to the Council because of the establishment of the City’s new recycling drop-off center. 
A major goal of Ordinance 5156 was to give the City the ability to fine individuals who dumped inappropriate 
materials at the recycling center. The City wanted the new recycling center to be a resource for the community, but 
the City also wanted to control costs and ensure the center was used correctly and not used as a dumping ground for 
trash and non-recyclable material. 
 



                                                                            

22 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Ordinance 5156 included provisions regulating the dumping of inappropriate materials at the recycling center as well 
as the disposal of material --- even if recyclable – outside designated bins when they were already full. Violations 
would be enforced by the City’s Ordinance Violations Bureau and the ordinance would authorize fines for violations 
on first, second or third offenses with a maximum of $500. 
Ordinance 5211 would change to Ordinance 5156 by increasing the maximum fines that could be imposed 
for a violation. It would establish that: “Any Person who violates a provision of this Code Chapter (this 
ordinance) may be subject to a fine in an amount not more than Two Thousand Five hundred Dollars 
($2,500.00) for a first violation of this ordinance. Any Person who violates a provision of this Code Chapter 
(this ordinance) more than once may be subject to a fine in an amount not more than Seven Thousand Five 
hundred Dollars ($7,500.00) for a second or subsequent violation of this ordinance. 
 
DEC. 16, 2024 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 5211: 
When this agenda item was called, City Communications Manager Amanda Guzman displayed a PowerPoint 
presentation in the Council Chamber that showed trash and other non-recyclable material improperly dumped at the 
City’s Indiana Avenue Recycling Center (EXHIBIT #2). 
Mayor Leichty said, “The pictures that you see on your screen now are of the Goshen City recycling center which 
was the impetus for bringing this ordinance before you. About every week we get a report from our folks at the 
Wastewater Department who have been contributing their time to do cleanup at the recycling facility.” 
The Mayor explained that the City entered an agreement with Elkhart County to provide recycling services to the 
community, primarily to people who live outside the city. She said the City offers curbside recycling for everybody in 
the City who lives in a residence, but there are limited recycling opportunities outside the City. 
The problem, Mayor Leichty said is that the costs associated with operating the center have not equaled what it is 
costing the City in staff time to go out and clean up the mess that's being brought to Goshen by other communities. 
“So, we have had all kinds of things dumped in the recycling, whether it's a pile of dead chickens, a mattress full of 
bed bugs, you name it, and it's disgusting.” She said the City installed a fence around the center and is limiting hours 
of operation. However, people have now been dumping items outside the fence.  
To address these issues, Mayor Leichty said City staff wants to increase the fine to the maximum allowable under 
State law, which would mean taking the current maximum fine of $500 to $2,500. Mayor Leichty acknowledged that 
was a significant increase but said it was justified “given the egregiousness of what has been happening at the 
recycling center and our need to cover the time and expense that the City has incurred, adding an additional fence, 
adding, staff time. I mean, it takes a lot of time just to write the tickets. We've had to add extra cameras in order to 
keep up with that. I think this fine is completely appropriate, and I hope that the Council will consider passing this.” 
Councilor Nisley asked how many $500 fines have been imposed. Mayor Leichty said that was a good question, 
but added it was sometimes difficult to identify the violators.  
City Director of Public Works & Utilities Dustin Sailor said he doesn’t believe the City has issued any $500 fines, 
but has issued numerous $175 fines. He said many violators have been caught but not all are identified, so the City 
will be installing another camera to help with that issue. He added that people have evaded the cameras. 
Mayor Leichty said that since Goshen signed a recycling agreement with Elkhart County, other municipalities in the 
county have closed their recycling centers. She said, “They all threw up their hands in frustration and said, ‘We're not 
doing it anymore, because people's behavior was so egregious.’ The City is willing to do this as long as we can cover 
the costs for cleaning up after people.” 



                                                                            

23 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilor Schrock said people didn’t throw trash outside the previous recycling containers at one location – behind 
the Mennonite Church in East Goshen “mostly because most people didn't know it was there.” 
Mayor Leichty said, “It presents a health hazard to our employees who are going to clean things up when there are 
things like bedbugs. I mean, they have to wear basically hazmat suits just to clean up after people.” 
Council President Weddell said, “I think the next step when this doesn't work, because I hate to say it, but it’s not 
going to work, is to … move it to the green dump, is what I call it, out on Indiana Avenue, because it's fenced in and it 
has someone manning a gate when you take brush out there.” 
Mayor Leichty said that possibility has been discussed, but establishing it there would require a major infrastructure 
investment that would cost the City more than the current expenses.  
Councilor Gerber said, “ I certainly hope these fees will serve as a deterrent.” Councilors Nisley and Schrock said 
the City will need to catch the violators. 
Council President Weddell suggested displaying photos of violators. 
Councilor Peel said, “I think if this doesn't work, then we should just stop doing it. I'm all for recycling, but if we 
continue having this mess, I don't think our employees should have to fix it.” Mayor Leichty said, “100% agree.” 
Responding to Council President Weddell’s idea, Councilor Nisley said at his golf course “has a box that's 
attached to the inside my door that people drop money into.” He said he has cameras, which he checks every 
morning, to see who didn't pay. He said he then prints a picture and posts it on the front window of the golf course, 
right out on the front, “and I will tell you I've gotten more people come back in and say, “Sorry. Could you take my 
picture down? Here's my money.’ I mean just by making a spectacle of somebody of doing that. It has worked. 
Council President Weddell said, “As long as the public doesn't know we're catching people and fining them, they're 
not going to know.” He added, “I was out there the other day because I had cardboard that wouldn't fit in my recycling 
box, and I had a bunch of Styrofoam, and I realized I wasn't allowed to put it in the bin, so I didn't.” 
 
At 8:18 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited public comments on Ordinance 5211. 
Glenn Null of Goshen said any time he has a big item to dump he contacts the City’s waste hauler and it is 
collected. But most times, some else will also take it because “one man's trash is another man's treasure.” 
Null also said that if the City hasn’t imposed any $500 fines, it should not increase it by so much more. He endorsed 
the idea of having a “wall of shame” to show photos of violators. 
Mayor Leichty said the City won’t necessarily impose the maximum fine. However, a higher fine would enable the 
City to launch a public relations campaign around the increased fee, and hopefully get the attention of people 
throughout our county, not just our Goshen residents, who might violate the ordinance. She added, “So that they will 
know if they want to come dump their dirty mattress in Goshen, there is a maximum allowable fine of $2,500.” 
Null said he she thought the $2,500 was still too high and that the City should impose more $500 fines. 
Councilor Schrock asked if there was signage at the center stating the maximum fine. The Mayor said there is a 
sign, but she favors a fine of $2,500. 
Council President Weddell responded, “If I'm going out there and I'm busted putting Styrofoam in there, I should get 
a $200 or $500 fine. If I'm going out there and dumping three nasty mattresses, four televisions, and a bunch of used 
tires and old paint, I deserve to get fined $7,500.” The Mayor said $2,500 would be the fine. The Council President 
pointed out that the maximum would be $7,500 for repeated offenses. 
Myron Yoder of Goshen asked where the “wall of shame” would be located. He said this would be effective and a 
good idea, especially if was posted on the fence at the recycling center. 



                                                                            

24 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilors and the Mayor discussed different possibilities for displaying photos of violators, whether through social 
media or actually posted at the recycling site. 
Yoder said he supported the City’s efforts. He noted that Goshen College does some Styrofoam recycling, but didn’t 
know if that was open to the public. He added that it might be good to post a sign at the recycling center on places 
where Styrofoam and electronics can be recycled. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors were ready to vote. They indicated they were.  
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5211, Revisions to Ordinance 5156 
Accumulation of Materials To Increase the Maximum Fine that May be Imposed for a Violation, on First 
Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting “yes,” at 8:23 p.m. 
 
Councilors gave unanimous consent to proceed with Second Reading of Ordinance 5211. 
 
President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5211, Revisions to Ordinance 5156 
Accumulation of Materials To Increase the Maximum Fine that May be Imposed for a Violation, by title only, 
which was done.  
Weddell/Nisley moved to approve Ordinance 5211 on Second Reading. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors or audience members had questions or comments. They did not. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5211, Revisions to Ordinance 5156 
Accumulation of Materials To Increase the Maximum Fine that May be Imposed for a Violation, on Second 
Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting “yes”, at 8:24 p.m. 
 
Mayor Leichty said, “And to the Goshen News, we appreciate you helping tell this story, so people will know that it's 
coming.” 
 
 
9)  Resolution 2024-22, A Resolution Declaring the Continued Need and Intent to Utilize American Rescue 
Plan Funding  
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction of Resolution 2024-22, A Resolution Declaring the Continued Need 
and Intent to Utilize American Rescue Plan Funding. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to 
read Resolution 2024-22 by title only, which was done. 
Weddell/Schrock made a motion to approve Resolution 2024-22. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Before the Council was Resolution 2024-22, A Resolution Declaring the Continued Need and Intent to Utilize 
American Rescue Plan Funding. 
Deputy Clerk Treasurer Jeffery Weaver explained the background and rationale for Resolution 2024-22 in a 
memorandum to the Common Council dated Dec. 16, 2024. 



                                                                            

25 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
In his memorandum, Weaver wrote: “The City of Goshen received $6,692,508 in federal assistance through the 
American Rescue Plan (ARP) Act of 2021 to address the fiscal impacts of the COVID-19 public health emergency. In 
response, the Common Council established a separate ARP fund and adopted a detailed plan for using these funds, 
guided by federal and state requirements.  
“Past resolutions have set provisions for managing revenue loss and outlined priorities, including funding key 
positions, supporting local arts organizations, and undertaking infrastructure improvements. To date, $1,135,575.19 
of the funds have been spent, and federal guidelines require that all remaining funds be committed to specific 
projects or contracts by December 31, 2024 and to be completely paid out by December 31, 2026. 
“To comply with federal audit requirements, which mandate contracts or resolutions to obligate funds for services and 
wages respectively, this resolution formalizes the allocation of ARP funds for ongoing commitments. The resolution 
dedicates $460,000 to fund the salaries and benefits of the Behavioral Health Response Coordinator and Mobile 
Integrated Health Specialist through 2026, $10,000 to continue support for Goshen Arts & Events, and $5,086,932.81 
for the contract with Niblock Excavating, Inc. for the Steury Avenue and Lincoln Avenue Reconstruction & Drainage 
Improvements project.  
“These steps ensure compliance while enabling the City to fully utilize the ARP grant to address local needs 
effectively.” 
 
DEC. 16, 2024 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL RESOLUTION 2024-22: 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors had questions or comments about Resolution 2024-22. 
Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre offered the following comments: “As you know, the American Rescue Plan act provided 
funding for communities throughout the country to mitigate the effects of the pandemic and to help with infrastructure 
improvements. Since this went into effect, there have been changes that have been made that have complicated the 
reporting requirements as well as the compliance requirements.” 
Aguirre continued, “Because of guidance, we had to be very explicit in how we would use the money, or we would 
potentially lose it. This resolution has been brought forward, and efforts and steps have now been taken, to make 
sure that our remaining funds are committed appropriately … We will be audited next year (by the State) on how we 
have used these funds and the funds that we have obligated. And it's our hope and expectation that this resolution, 
as well as other steps that will be taken, will resolve that issue, and that we will not have to potentially pay back any 
money that we received and that we would still like to use for worthy City priorities.” 
Councilor Schrock said some ARPA money will be used to make infrastructure improvements and, on behalf of 
people who live nearby, he wanted to offer his appreciation for the improvements. He asked for confirmation of this. 
City Director of Public Works & Utilities Dustin Sailor said Redevelopment funds were going to pay for the 
project, but as costs escalated additional funds were needed. He said funds now will come from the ARPA grant. 
 
At 8:27 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited questions or comments from members of the audience. There were none. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors were ready to vote. They indicated they were.  
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Resolution 2024-22, by a 6-0 margin, with all Councilors 
present voting “yes,” at 8:27 p.m. 
 



                                                                            

26 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
10)  Ordinance 5205, Amend Ordinance 5199, 2025 Compensation Ordinance for Fire Department Employees  
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction on First Reading of Ordinance 5205, Amend Ordinance 5199, 2025 
Compensation Ordinance for Fire Department Employees. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-
Treasurer to read Ordinance 5205 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Lederach moved to approve Ordinance 5205 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Before the Council was Ordinance 5205, Amend Ordinance 5199, 2025 Compensation Ordinance for Fire 
Department Employees. 
The underlying ordinance, Ordinance 5199, 2025 Compensation for Fire Department Employees, was passed 
by the Goshen Common Council on Oct. 28, 2024. The Fire Department administration wants to add two new 
position titles and remove two existing position titles. 
If Ordinance 5205 was approved by the Council it would be ordained that: 
(1) The position of Certified Chief Inspector shall be removed from, and the position of Division Chief shall be added 
to SECTION 1, Application of Ordinance, paragraph (B), item (3). 
(2) The position of Chief Inspector shall be removed from, and the position of EMS Supervisor shall be added to 
SECTION 1, Application of Ordinance, paragraph (B), item (4). 
(3) The positions of Certified Chief Inspector and Chief Inspector shall be removed from, and  the positions of 
Division Chief and EMS Supervisor shall be added to SECTION 3, Wages, paragraph (C) 
(4) The positions of Certified Chief Inspector and Chief Inspector shall be removed from, and the positions of Division 
Chief and EMS Supervisor shall be added to SECTION 7, Vacation Leave, paragraph (A). 
(5) The positions of Certified Chief Inspector and Chief Inspector shall be removed from, and the positions of Division 
Chief and EMS Supervisor shall be added to SECTION 8, Sick Leave, paragraph (A). 
(6) The positions of Certified Chief Inspector and Chief Inspector shall be removed from, and the positions of Division 
Chief and EMS Supervisor shall be added to SECTION 9, Personal Leave, paragraph (A). 
(7) The position of Certified Chief Inspector with a base wage of $39.65 per hour shall be removed from, and the 
position of Division Chief with a base wage of $39.65 per hour shall be added to EXHIBIT A, 2025 Fire Department 
Base Wages. 
(8) The position of Chief Inspector with a base wage of $36.76 per hour shall be removed from, and the position of 
EMS Supervisor with a base wage of $36.76 per hour shall be added to EXHIBIT A, 2025 Fire Department Base 
Wages. 
(9) Ordinance 5199 in its entirety, as amended by paragraphs (1) through (8) above, is attached to this Ordinance. 
 
DEC. 16, 2024 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 5205: 
Mayor Leichty invited comments from Fire Chief Anthony Powell. 
Chief Powell provided the following explanation: “So, this is mainly just a language cleanup. It also helps to align 
our department organizationally, and then also align with the fire service as a whole. So, what it does is replace the 
Certified Chief Inspector with Division Chief position, and then the Chief Inspector with the EMS Supervisor position. 
EMS Supervisor will be our MIH (Mobile Integrated Health) coordinator. Then the Division Chief is what Travis Peak 
was sworn in to run the Red Hawk Academy program. So, the positions are there. No monetary changes. It's just a 
language change.” 



                                                                            

27 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Mayor Leichty thanked Chief Powell and invited questions or comments from Councilors. There were none. 
 
At 8:29 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited questions or comments from members of the audience. There were none. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors were ready to vote. They indicated they were.  
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5205, Amend Ordinance 5199, 2025 
Compensation Ordinance for Fire Department Employees, on First Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all 
Councilors present voting “yes,” at 8:29 p.m. 
 
Councilors gave unanimous consent to proceed with Second Reading of Ordinance 5205. 
 
President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5205, Amend Ordinance 5199, 2025 
Compensation Ordinance for Fire Department Employees, by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Nisley moved to approve Ordinance 5205 on Second Reading. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors or audience members had questions or comments. They did not. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5205, Amend Ordinance 5199, 2025 
Compensation Ordinance for Fire Department Employees, on Second Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all 
Councilors present voting “yes,” at 8:30 p.m. 
 
 
11)  Ordinance 5209, City of Goshen Stormwater Management Ordinance 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction on First Reading of Ordinance 5209, City of Goshen Stormwater 
Management Ordinance. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5209 by 
title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Schrock moved to approve Ordinance 5209 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Before the Council was Ordinance 5209, City of Goshen Stormwater Management Ordinance. 
City Stormwater Coordinator Jason Kauffman outlined the background and purpose of Ordinance 5209 in a two-
page memorandum to the Council dated Dec. 16, 2025. Kauffman wrote: 
“In December 2021, the Indiana Department of Environmental Management (IDEM) formally transitioned the State’s 
stormwater regulations from a permit by rule to a general permit. Thus, replacing 327 IAC 15-5 (Rule 5) with the new 
Construction Stormwater General Permit (CSGP) and 327 IAC 15-13 (Rule 13) with a new Municipal Separate Storm 
Sewer System (MS4) General Permit (MS4 GP). 
“Since these permits had not been updated by the State since 2003, they incorporated several new or revised 
provisions that would impact how the stormwater construction and post-construction associated with new development 
or redevelopment would need to be reviewed and permitted, either by IDEM (through the CSGP) or by MS4 entities 
(through the MS4 GP). 



                                                                            

28 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
“Regulated Indiana MS4 entities such as counties, cities, and towns are required to incorporate these new changes (in 
the MS4 GP) into their existing and required local ordinances. It is important to note that local jurisdictional and MS4 
entities do not have the authority to directly implement or enforce IDEM’s CSGP and MS4 GP. Instead, a local 
ordinance serves this purpose and is used to implement and enforce stormwater and erosion and sediment control 
requirements at a local level. 
“To assist with promoting statewide consistency among these local ordinances the Indiana Local Technical Assistance 
Program (LTAP) was asked to develop a model stormwater management ordinance for MS4 communities to use. To 
complete this task, LTAP secured funding and retained the services of Christopher B. Burke Engineering, LLC (Burke) 
to assist with the development of a model stormwater management ordinance and an accompanying stormwater 
technical standards manual for use by Indiana counties and local communities. 
“The Goshen Stormwater Department chose to take the provided model stormwater management ordinance and 
stormwater technical standards manual and modify them to fit the needs of the City of Goshen while being no more 
stringent than the requirements of the State of Indiana. In May of this year, the Goshen Stormwater Department 
convened a focus group of local elected officials and members of the development community to discuss the language 
in the model stormwater management ordinance. The focus group included Council representatives Linda Gerber and 
Don Riegsecker, Brad Mosness (Abonmarche), Dean Sprunger (Schrock Homes, Inc.), Doug VonGunten (Ancon 
Construction), and City staff Jason Kauffman, Dustin Sailor, and Don Shuler. 
“The stormwater technical standards manual will be presented to the Goshen Board of Public Works and Safety and 
Stormwater Board for acceptance in the near future. 
“The following bullet points highlight several Key Points: 

• Proposed Ordinance 5209 incorporates and replaces existing Ordinances 4327, 4328, and 4329. 
• The updated language in the Ordinance and Technical Standards Manual will memorialize the requirements 

the Goshen Engineering and Stormwater Departments have been implementing over the past few decades. 
• Stormwater storage requirements are not changing for projects keeping their stormwater on-site (retention), 

while projects that will be detaining stormwater runoff on their property and then releasing it to a public storm 
sewer or a waterway have been updated. 

 o Retention Requirements = a 3” rain event over a 24-hour period 
 o Detention Requirements = a 6” rain event over a 24-hour period 

• The area of disturbance threshold triggering the need to obtain a CSGP remains at one acre. A CSGP requires 
the preparation of a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan and the preparation of a Post-Construction 
Stormwater Management Plan. 

• Projects disturbing less than one acre will continue to be reviewed for proper treatment and storage of 
stormwater runoff both during and after construction. 

• Section 2. in Ordinance 4328 established the application fees for a stormwater clearance and the proposed 
stormwater management ordinance will update these fees as follows: 

 o The application fee will go from $50 to 
 $150 for projects not required to submit a post-construction stormwater management plan 
  $325 for projects required to submit a new or amended post-construction stormwater management plan 
 o A new resubmittal fee of $100 will be assessed on any project going through the City’s Technical Review 
 process if more than one resubmittal is required. 



                                                                            

29 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
 o No changes are proposed at this time to the following fees: 
 A stormwater clearance renewal is still $100 
 For projects required to obtain a CSGP, a supplemental filing fee of $100 per disturbed acre and fractional 
 acre is due and payable at the time a stormwater pollution prevention plan is submitted to the Elkhart County 
 Soil and Water Conservation District 
 o These fees are included in the proposed Ordinance 5209 but will be included in the next update to the City’s 
 Fee Ordinance. 
Kauffman concluded, “Following the Council’s discussion this evening, the Goshen Stormwater Department requests 
the Goshen City Council vote on the first reading of Ordinance 5209, Stormwater Management Ordinance.” 
 
DEC. 16, 2024 COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 5202: 
Using a PowerPoint presentation, titled “Goshen Stormwater Management Ordinance 5209” (EXHIBIT #3), City 
Stormwater Coordinator Jason Kauffman provided an overview of the ordinance. Key points: 

• Stormwater runoff is generated anytime it rains or snow melts as it runs across the ground and accumulates 
on roadways, sidewalks, rooftops and doesn't soak in the ground. As it runs across the ground, it picks up 
anything that's on the ground, such as sediment, trash, oil, and then goes into waterways, typically untreated. 

• As hard surfaces increase, the amount of water that soaks into the ground decreases and more water runs 
off and that can negatively impact waterways. 

• The Clean Water Act of 1972 was designed to reverse damage to waterways make them fishable and 
swimmable. Pollution point source was reduced or eliminated but waterways did not become fishable and 
swimmable. So, the enforcement emphasis shifted to non-point source pollution through the creation of the 
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System. It focused on large urban areas and then started to focus 
on the smaller urban areas, which is where Goshen came in. 

• On Aug. 6, 2003, the Indiana Department of Environmental Management (IDEM) passed a permit by rule, 
which was referred to as Rule 13, for stormwater with the municipal separate storm sewer system 
conveyances. Community MS4 is a municipal separate storm sewer system, and those communities had to 
manage their stormwater. So, after passage in 2003 , any of those communities that were identified as MS4 
had to pass their own ordinances. So, in late 2005 to early 2006, Goshen passed ordinances to create the 
Department of Stormwater and its stormwater regulations. 

• State requirements for stormwater didn't change over the next decade and a half until 2021, when there was 
a  switch from permit by rule to a general permit and a municipal separate storm sewer general permit was 
released. That also included a construction stormwater general permit which brings the City to the point where 
it had to update its ordinances and stormwater program for the City. 

• State regulations require Goshen to implement six minimum control measures: public education and outreach; 
public participation and involvement; illicit discharge detection and elimination; construction site runoff control; 
post-construction runoff control; and pollution prevention and good housekeeping. Pollution prevention and 
good housekeeping is what is done at the City’s own sites to make sure the City is not creating pollutants that 
are getting into our stormwater. 

• There have been positive results from the City’s stormwater program as depicted in photos shown to 
Councilors. Some have restored habitat and others have controlled runoff and the transmission of pollutants. 



                                                                            

30 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
• Ordinance 5209 will replace the City’s existing stormwater ordinances that dealt with illicit discharges, 

construction site, and post construction site. The updated language in the ordinance and technical standards, 
manual will memorialize the requirements that the Engineering and Stormwater departments have been 
implementing over the past few decades and the Technical Standards manual which will be going to the Board 
of Public Works for acceptance in the near future. 

• Kauffman described the process for updating the ordinance as well as the actual changes, which were outlined 
in his memorandum to the Board and his PowerPoint presentation.  

Mayor Leichty thanked Kauffman. She also thanked Councilors Gerber and Riegsecker for serving on the task 
force that reviewed and helped revise the City’s stormwater ordinance. 
 
Mayor Leichty invited questions or comments from Councilors. 
Councilor Gerber thanked Kauffman for his work and for incorporating the task force’s feedback. 
 
At 8:42 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited questions or comments from members of the audience. There were none. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors were ready to vote. They indicated they were. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5209, City of Goshen Stormwater Management 
Ordinance, on First Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting “yes,” at 8:42 p.m. 
 
Mayor Leichty and Council President Weddell discussed whether Ordinance 5209 could go to a Second Reading. 
City Attorney Stegelmann said he believed that could be done. 
 
Councilors gave unanimous consent to proceed with the Second Reading of Ordinance 5209. 
 
President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5209, City of Goshen Stormwater 
Management Ordinance, by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Peel moved to approve Ordinance 5209 on Second Reading. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors or audience members had questions or comments. They did not. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Ordinance 5209, City of Goshen Stormwater Management 
Ordinance, on Second Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting “yes,” at 8:43 p.m. 
 
 
Elected Official Reports: 
 
Mayor Leichty asked if there were any reports from Councilors about their work on City Boards or 
Commissions. 
 
 



                                                                            

31 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilor Gerber said, “I am the liaison, along with Council Riegsecker, to the Board of Works, and I would just like 
to call your attention to an item that was in the Goshen News. The Board of Works approved an agreement between 
the Restor Church and the City to help a homeowner rehabilitate his home that was on the demolition list.” 
Gerber continued, “This homeowner has been diligent, and coming back to the Board of Works and doing everything 
they've asked, and he had some issues with a previous contractor that took advantage of him. And through the 
Mayor's Office and the Building Department, they now have the Restor Church volunteering and donating time, but 
also doing some fundraising of their own to help come up with materials and help him restore his home so that it will 
be habitable for him and help improve the neighborhood.” 
Council President Weddell said he wanted to congratulate Youth Adviser Tageeya Galeb on recently receiving a 
Lilly endowment scholarship, but she decided to go home and study. She will receive full tuition for four years. 
Council President Weddell also acknowledged that on Dec. 11 the Police Department honored the late Officer 
Thomas Goodwin. He added, “I'm sorry when he passed away in line of duty in 1998. So, I think that's an important 
date for the memory of all of our police officers.” 
Councilor Peel said, “I think you know what the CRC has been doing so I don't need to report on that.” 
Councilor Lederach, the Council liaison to the Board of Aviation Commission, reported that 96 pilot licenses were 
earned at the Goshen Airport this past year. He added Goshen again was the 7th busiest airport in Indiana, which he 
said was “pretty impressive.” 
 
There were no further comments by the Mayor or by Councilors. 
 
Councilor Nisley made a motion to adjourn the meeting, which was seconded by Councilor Lederach. 
Councilors unanimously approved the motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 
 
Mayor Leichty adjourned the meeting at 8:46 p.m. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #1: An amended version of Resolution 2024-21, which was accepted by the Council and ultimately approved. 
In the fourth paragraph, the ordinal version stated that the Council last met on Nov. 19, 2024 when the actual Council 
meeting date was Nov. 18, 2024. So, the date was corrected in the amended version of Resolution 2024-21 (agenda 
item #4)  
 
EXHIBIT #2: A 10--page PowerPoint presentation showing photos of trash and other non-recyclable material 
improperly dumped at the City’s Indiana Avenue Recycling Center. The photos were displayed during consideration of 
Ordinance 5211, (agenda item #8), Ordinance 5211, Revisions to Ordinance 5156 Accumulation of Materials To 
Increase the Maximum Fine that May be Imposed for a Violation. 
 
EXHIBIT #3: A 10-page PowerPoint presentation, titled “Goshen Stormwater Management Ordinance 5209,” that was 
prepared and presented by City Stormwater Coordinator Jason Kauffman during Council consideration of the ordinance 
(agenda item #11). 
 
 



                                                                            

32 | P a g e  
December 16, 2024 | City Council Minutes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED:  __________________________________ 

Gina Leichty, Mayor of Goshen 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  __________________________________ 

Richard R. Aguirre, City Clerk-Treasurer 



 
 

TO:  Goshen City Common Council, Mayor Gina Leichty 
 
FROM:  Jeffery Weaver, Deputy Clerk-Treasurer  
 
RE:  February, 2025 Civil City Budgeted Financials 
 
DATE:  March 24, 2025  
              
 
Attached for the Council’s review are financial reports summarizing the budget and cash balance performance for 
Civil City funds included in the 2025 budget, which was approved by the Council in October 2024. These reports 
are intended to provide a reasonable understanding of the City’s financial position. They are unaudited and may 
require some interpretation. 
 
Fund Balance Report 
This report shows the cash balance of each fund and is intended to demonstrate that each fund maintains a sufficient 
balance to support budgeted expenditures. 

• As of the end of February, cash balances for the reported funds have decreased by nearly $7 million. This 
decline is typical for this time of year, as many funds receive the majority of their funding in June and 
December. 

• The Debt Service funds currently show a negative balance due to bond payments made in January and 
February, prior to receiving levy revenue in June. 

 
Budget Report 
This report outlines the budget performance for each fund and the departments within the General Fund. Revenues 
are detailed on the first two pages, while expenditures are reported on the following three pages. 

• If expenditures were distributed evenly throughout the year, we would expect 16.7% of the budget to be 
spent by the end of February, leaving 83.3% remaining. 

• Revenue tracking is primarily for internal purposes, as the Department of Local Government Finance 
(DLGF) does not closely review this budget. The revenue budget is established to ensure sufficient funds 
are available to supplement cash balances and cover expenditures. At this time, revenues appear to be in 
line with expectations. 

• Expenditures generally align with expectations, particularly in the “Big Four” funds. However, the Debt 
Service Fund appears to have 49.9% of its budget remaining, which may seem concerning. This is due to 
the majority of debt service payments occurring in January. Additionally, the Lippert/Dierdorff TIF Fund 
currently appears overspent due to an accounting error that has not yet been corrected. 

 
Our office is available to answer any questions regarding the attached reports and is happy to discuss these matters 
further as needed. 
 



3/18/2025 10:23:56 PM Page 1 of 1

Fund Balance Report
City of Goshen, IN As Of 02/28/2025

Fund Beginning Balance Total Revenues Total Expenses Ending Balance

1101 - GENERAL FUND 21,528,877.25 2,728,358.99 5,330,106.29 18,927,129.95

2201 - MVH FUND 3,790,842.61 277,166.17 560,742.54 3,507,266.24

2202 - LOCAL ROAD & STREET 1,554,031.95 110,121.68 0.00 1,664,153.63

2203 - MVH-RESTRICTED 2,106,390.49 61,049.28 0.00 2,167,439.77

2204 - PARKS AND RECREATION 4,698,294.14 83,855.99 452,391.66 4,329,758.47

2206 - AVIATION FUND 549,459.52 23,735.97 90,133.09 483,062.40

2209 - LIT - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 7,303,587.03 442,840.45 291,600.45 7,454,827.03

2214 - PROBATION FUND 126,474.02 12,313.15 20,514.15 118,273.02

2226 - REDEVELOPMENT OPERATING 486,877.76 2,991.15 50,770.88 439,098.03

2228 - LECE2 FUND 61,043.92 6,289.00 2,964.02 64,368.90

2234 - UNSAFE BUILDING FUND 218,015.68 1,292.61 40,000.00 179,308.29

2236 - RAINY DAY FUND 2,654,516.59 0.00 0.00 2,654,516.59

2240 - LIT - PUBLIC SAFETY 2,437,452.30 438,108.16 482,128.97 2,393,431.49

2256 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT UNRESTR 101,168.19 0.00 0.00 101,168.19

2257 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT RESTR 253,200.26 0.00 0.00 253,200.26

2258 - TOWNSHIP FIRE SUPPORT 416,352.31 350,000.00 14,677.32 751,674.99

2500 - COURT FEES 39,739.66 10,250.60 2,325.85 47,664.41

2501 - RESIDENTIAL LEASE FEES 59,283.57 5,015.00 8,781.40 55,517.17

2503 - ELECTRIC UTILITY SALE 2,867,655.75 35,778.82 0.00 2,903,434.57

2504 - LECE FUND 1 18,108.66 0.00 0.00 18,108.66

2505 - STORM WATER MANAGEMNT 2,387,177.63 4,046.31 446,192.39 1,945,031.55

2506 - ECON IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 30,637.77 0.00 4,721.21 25,916.56

2508 - REDHAWK ACADEMY 14,757.86 25,000.00 3,829.50 35,928.36

3301 - DEBT SERVICE 65,169.99 0.00 186,900.00 -121,730.01

3311 - TIF BOND P & I PYMT FUND 571,219.28 0.00 816,718.75 -245,499.47

3331 - TIF DEBT SERVICE RESERVE 217,393.75 0.00 0.00 217,393.75

4401 - CCI (CIGARETTE TAX) FUND 332,952.34 0.00 6,662.44 326,289.90

4402 - CUMULATIVE CAP DEVELOP 1,195,728.49 0.00 0.00 1,195,728.49

4425 - CCI FIRE STATION 601,395.79 0.00 65,289.84 536,105.95

4428 - CCI STORM SEWER FUND 3,290,057.69 22,696.50 1,174.70 3,311,579.49

4445 - TIF SOUTH EAST E.D. 22,706,136.70 101,010.66 847,334.88 21,959,812.48

4446 - TIF CONS RR/US 33/DT 9,914,318.15 0.00 390,511.08 9,523,807.07

4447 - TIF LIPPERT/DIERDORFF 770,577.43 0.00 453,597.95 316,979.48

4502 - ARP FISCAL RECOV FUND 5,557,302.92 0.00 33,917.23 5,523,385.69

4651 - CEMETERY CAPITAL IMPROV. 89,453.61 2,193.00 0.00 91,646.61

4660 - 2015 GOB PROCEEDS 849,472.25 0.00 0.00 849,472.25

4661 - 2021 GO BOND PROCEEDS 2,999,965.13 0.00 17,648.50 2,982,316.63

8801 - FIRE PENSION FUND 221,266.05 0.00 57,793.05 163,473.00

8802 - POLICE PENSION FUND 497,258.97 819.69 27,533.00 470,545.66

103,583,613.46 4,744,933.18 10,706,961.14 97,621,585.50Report Total:



3/18/2025 10:23:04 PM Page 1 of 6

Budget Report
City of Goshen, IN Group Summary

For Fiscal: 2025 Period Ending: 02/28/2025

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

ActivityDepartmen…

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

Percent
Remaining

Revenue

Fund: 1101 - GENERAL FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 2,728,358.991,334,807.8128,495,121.00 28,495,121.00 -25,766,762.01 90.43%

2,728,358.991,334,807.8128,495,121.00 28,495,121.00 -25,766,762.01Fund: 1101 - GENERAL FUND Total: 90.43%

Fund: 2201 - MVH FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 277,166.17110,385.774,560,312.00 4,560,312.00 -4,283,145.83 93.92%

277,166.17110,385.774,560,312.00 4,560,312.00 -4,283,145.83Fund: 2201 - MVH FUND Total: 93.92%

Fund: 2202 - LOCAL ROAD & STREET

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 110,121.6855,407.81589,328.00 589,328.00 -479,206.32 81.31%

110,121.6855,407.81589,328.00 589,328.00 -479,206.32Fund: 2202 - LOCAL ROAD & STREET Total: 81.31%

Fund: 2203 - MVH-RESTRICTED

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 61,049.2861,049.281,366,292.00 1,366,292.00 -1,305,242.72 95.53%

61,049.2861,049.281,366,292.00 1,366,292.00 -1,305,242.72Fund: 2203 - MVH-RESTRICTED Total: 95.53%

Fund: 2204 - PARKS AND RECREATION

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 83,855.9935,350.043,755,106.00 3,755,106.00 -3,671,250.01 97.77%

83,855.9935,350.043,755,106.00 3,755,106.00 -3,671,250.01Fund: 2204 - PARKS AND RECREATION Total: 97.77%

Fund: 2206 - AVIATION FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 23,735.975,267.28407,787.00 407,787.00 -384,051.03 94.18%

23,735.975,267.28407,787.00 407,787.00 -384,051.03Fund: 2206 - AVIATION FUND Total: 94.18%

Fund: 2209 - LIT - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 442,840.45224,139.952,637,406.00 2,637,406.00 -2,194,565.55 83.21%

442,840.45224,139.952,637,406.00 2,637,406.00 -2,194,565.55Fund: 2209 - LIT - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Total: 83.21%

Fund: 2214 - PROBATION FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 12,313.156,315.55125,000.00 125,000.00 -112,686.85 90.15%

12,313.156,315.55125,000.00 125,000.00 -112,686.85Fund: 2214 - PROBATION FUND Total: 90.15%

Fund: 2226 - REDEVELOPMENT OPERATING

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 2,991.151,867.2346,200.00 46,200.00 -43,208.85 93.53%

2,991.151,867.2346,200.00 46,200.00 -43,208.85Fund: 2226 - REDEVELOPMENT OPERATING Total: 93.53%

Fund: 2228 - LECE2 FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 6,289.002,861.000.00 0.00 6,289.00 0.00%

6,289.002,861.000.00 0.00 6,289.00Fund: 2228 - LECE2 FUND Total: 0.00%

Fund: 2234 - UNSAFE BUILDING FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 1,292.61740.500.00 0.00 1,292.61 0.00%

1,292.61740.500.00 0.00 1,292.61Fund: 2234 - UNSAFE BUILDING FUND Total: 0.00%

Fund: 2240 - LIT - PUBLIC SAFETY

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 438,108.16218,404.082,642,849.00 2,642,849.00 -2,204,740.84 83.42%

438,108.16218,404.082,642,849.00 2,642,849.00 -2,204,740.84Fund: 2240 - LIT - PUBLIC SAFETY Total: 83.42%

Fund: 2256 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT UNRESTR

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.0019,500.00 19,500.00 -19,500.00 100.00%

0.000.0019,500.00 19,500.00 -19,500.00Fund: 2256 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT UNRESTR Total: 100.00%

Fund: 2257 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT RESTR

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.0045,600.00 45,600.00 -45,600.00 100.00%

0.000.0045,600.00 45,600.00 -45,600.00Fund: 2257 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT RESTR Total: 100.00%

Fund: 2258 - TOWNSHIP FIRE SUPPORT

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 350,000.000.00350,000.00 350,000.00 0.00 0.00%

350,000.000.00350,000.00 350,000.00 0.00Fund: 2258 - TOWNSHIP FIRE SUPPORT Total: 0.00%



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2025 Period Ending: 02/28/2025

3/18/2025 10:23:04 PM Page 2 of 6

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

ActivityDepartmen…

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

Percent
Remaining

Fund: 2500 - COURT FEES

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 10,250.604,375.9220,700.00 20,700.00 -10,449.40 50.48%

10,250.604,375.9220,700.00 20,700.00 -10,449.40Fund: 2500 - COURT FEES Total: 50.48%

Fund: 2501 - RESIDENTIAL LEASE FEES

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 5,015.002,265.0064,430.00 64,430.00 -59,415.00 92.22%

5,015.002,265.0064,430.00 64,430.00 -59,415.00Fund: 2501 - RESIDENTIAL LEASE FEES Total: 92.22%

Fund: 2503 - ELECTRIC UTILITY SALE

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 35,778.8213,921.920.00 0.00 35,778.82 0.00%

35,778.8213,921.920.00 0.00 35,778.82Fund: 2503 - ELECTRIC UTILITY SALE Total: 0.00%

Fund: 2505 - STORM WATER MANAGEMNT

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 4,046.31425.00607,827.00 607,827.00 -603,780.69 99.33%

4,046.31425.00607,827.00 607,827.00 -603,780.69Fund: 2505 - STORM WATER MANAGEMNT Total: 99.33%

Fund: 2506 - ECON IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.0065,500.00 65,500.00 -65,500.00 100.00%

0.000.0065,500.00 65,500.00 -65,500.00Fund: 2506 - ECON IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT Total: 100.00%

Fund: 2508 - REDHAWK ACADEMY

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 25,000.000.0046,500.00 46,500.00 -21,500.00 46.24%

25,000.000.0046,500.00 46,500.00 -21,500.00Fund: 2508 - REDHAWK ACADEMY Total: 46.24%

Fund: 3301 - DEBT SERVICE

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.00381,432.00 381,432.00 -381,432.00 100.00%

0.000.00381,432.00 381,432.00 -381,432.00Fund: 3301 - DEBT SERVICE Total: 100.00%

Fund: 3311 - TIF BOND P & I PYMT FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.00820,889.00 820,889.00 -820,889.00 100.00%

0.000.00820,889.00 820,889.00 -820,889.00Fund: 3311 - TIF BOND P & I PYMT FUND Total: 100.00%

Fund: 4401 - CCI (CIGARETTE TAX) FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.0057,813.00 57,813.00 -57,813.00 100.00%

0.000.0057,813.00 57,813.00 -57,813.00Fund: 4401 - CCI (CIGARETTE TAX) FUND Total: 100.00%

Fund: 4402 - CUMULATIVE CAP DEVELOP

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.00823,963.00 823,963.00 -823,963.00 100.00%

0.000.00823,963.00 823,963.00 -823,963.00Fund: 4402 - CUMULATIVE CAP DEVELOP Total: 100.00%

Fund: 4425 - CCI FIRE STATION

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.00565,937.00 565,937.00 -565,937.00 100.00%

0.000.00565,937.00 565,937.00 -565,937.00Fund: 4425 - CCI FIRE STATION Total: 100.00%

Fund: 4428 - CCI STORM SEWER FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 22,696.5022,696.50586,504.00 586,504.00 -563,807.50 96.13%

22,696.5022,696.50586,504.00 586,504.00 -563,807.50Fund: 4428 - CCI STORM SEWER FUND Total: 96.13%

Fund: 4445 - TIF SOUTH EAST E.D.

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 101,010.6614,048.009,367,200.00 9,367,200.00 -9,266,189.34 98.92%

101,010.6614,048.009,367,200.00 9,367,200.00 -9,266,189.34Fund: 4445 - TIF SOUTH EAST E.D. Total: 98.92%

Fund: 4446 - TIF CONS RR/US 33/DT

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.003,822,700.00 3,822,700.00 -3,822,700.00 100.00%

0.000.003,822,700.00 3,822,700.00 -3,822,700.00Fund: 4446 - TIF CONS RR/US 33/DT Total: 100.00%

Fund: 4447 - TIF LIPPERT/DIERDORFF

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.00261,350.00 261,350.00 -261,350.00 100.00%

0.000.00261,350.00 261,350.00 -261,350.00Fund: 4447 - TIF LIPPERT/DIERDORFF Total: 100.00%

Fund: 4651 - CEMETERY CAPITAL IMPROV.

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 2,193.001,436.0011,000.00 11,000.00 -8,807.00 80.06%

2,193.001,436.0011,000.00 11,000.00 -8,807.00Fund: 4651 - CEMETERY CAPITAL IMPROV. Total: 80.06%

Fund: 8801 - FIRE PENSION FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.00460,000.00 460,000.00 -460,000.00 100.00%

0.000.00460,000.00 460,000.00 -460,000.00Fund: 8801 - FIRE PENSION FUND Total: 100.00%

Fund: 8802 - POLICE PENSION FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 819.6960.00350,000.00 350,000.00 -349,180.31 99.77%



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2025 Period Ending: 02/28/2025

3/18/2025 10:23:04 PM Page 3 of 6

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

ActivityDepartmen…

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

Percent
Remaining

819.6960.00350,000.00 350,000.00 -349,180.31Fund: 8802 - POLICE PENSION FUND Total: 99.77%

4,744,933.182,115,824.6463,354,246.00 63,354,246.00 -58,609,312.82Revenue Total: 92.51%

Expense

Fund: 1101 - GENERAL FUND

01 - COMMUNITY RELATIONS 18,034.846,260.22206,050.00 206,050.00 188,015.16 91.25%

02 - COUNCIL 25,243.9010,097.56149,770.00 149,770.00 124,526.10 83.14%

03 - MAYOR 101,978.9240,847.26621,380.00 621,380.00 519,401.08 83.59%

04 - CLERK-TREASURER 136,455.6556,786.92868,070.00 868,070.00 731,614.35 84.28%

05 - LEGAL 137,077.5753,739.12960,625.00 962,587.89 825,510.32 85.76%

06 - COURT 104,854.8743,930.29582,200.00 582,200.00 477,345.13 81.99%

07 - BOARD OF WORKS 612,460.57300,820.165,303,485.00 5,500,751.97 4,888,291.40 88.87%

08 - TECHNOLOGY 67,165.7724,028.73811,000.00 811,000.00 743,834.23 91.72%

09 - CEMETERY-GENERAL 74,409.0224,690.55483,070.00 483,070.00 408,660.98 84.60%

10 - ENGINEERING 169,588.1671,000.151,265,650.00 1,266,712.00 1,097,123.84 86.61%

11 - POLICE DEPARTMENT 1,620,861.10615,990.149,650,820.00 9,769,275.47 8,148,414.37 83.41%

12 - FIRE DEPARTMENT 1,654,920.67702,921.618,639,800.00 8,639,800.00 6,984,879.33 80.85%

15 - BUILDING DEPARTMENT 99,644.9742,347.03669,425.00 669,874.00 570,229.03 85.12%

16 - PLANNING DEPARTMENT 79,417.1634,325.59599,015.00 599,015.00 519,597.84 86.74%

18 - CENTRAL GARAGE 265,918.15123,126.461,953,130.00 1,953,130.00 1,687,211.85 86.39%

19 - BUILDINGS-GROUNDS 38,329.5916,620.58357,740.00 357,740.00 319,410.41 89.29%

46 - ENVIRONMENTAL RESILENCE 111,491.0345,986.06823,670.00 823,670.00 712,178.97 86.46%

90 - UNAPPROPRIATED 12,254.356,615.170.00 0.00 -12,254.35 0.00%

5,330,106.292,220,133.6033,944,900.00 34,264,096.33 28,933,990.04Fund: 1101 - GENERAL FUND Total: 84.44%

Fund: 2201 - MVH FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 560,742.54267,597.783,870,190.00 3,980,703.10 3,419,960.56 85.91%

560,742.54267,597.783,870,190.00 3,980,703.10 3,419,960.56Fund: 2201 - MVH FUND Total: 85.91%

Fund: 2202 - LOCAL ROAD & STREET

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.001,000,000.00 1,539,147.00 1,539,147.00 100.00%

0.000.001,000,000.00 1,539,147.00 1,539,147.00Fund: 2202 - LOCAL ROAD & STREET Total: 100.00%

Fund: 2203 - MVH-RESTRICTED

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.002,400,000.00 2,400,000.00 2,400,000.00 100.00%

0.000.002,400,000.00 2,400,000.00 2,400,000.00Fund: 2203 - MVH-RESTRICTED Total: 100.00%

Fund: 2204 - PARKS AND RECREATION

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 452,391.66258,005.933,331,500.00 4,055,500.00 3,603,108.34 88.84%

452,391.66258,005.933,331,500.00 4,055,500.00 3,603,108.34Fund: 2204 - PARKS AND RECREATION Total: 88.84%

Fund: 2206 - AVIATION FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 90,133.0948,848.78711,400.00 711,400.00 621,266.91 87.33%

90,133.0948,848.78711,400.00 711,400.00 621,266.91Fund: 2206 - AVIATION FUND Total: 87.33%

Fund: 2209 - LIT - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 291,600.455,136.984,325,000.00 7,100,223.28 6,808,622.83 95.89%

291,600.455,136.984,325,000.00 7,100,223.28 6,808,622.83Fund: 2209 - LIT - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Total: 95.89%

Fund: 2214 - PROBATION FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 20,514.158,578.50113,650.00 113,650.00 93,135.85 81.95%

20,514.158,578.50113,650.00 113,650.00 93,135.85Fund: 2214 - PROBATION FUND Total: 81.95%

Fund: 2226 - REDEVELOPMENT OPERATING

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 50,770.8819,040.05274,550.00 274,550.00 223,779.12 81.51%

50,770.8819,040.05274,550.00 274,550.00 223,779.12Fund: 2226 - REDEVELOPMENT OPERATING Total: 81.51%

Fund: 2228 - LECE2 FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 2,964.02452.2436,000.00 36,000.00 33,035.98 91.77%

2,964.02452.2436,000.00 36,000.00 33,035.98Fund: 2228 - LECE2 FUND Total: 91.77%

Fund: 2234 - UNSAFE BUILDING FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 40,000.0040,000.0085,000.00 951,000.00 911,000.00 95.79%

40,000.0040,000.0085,000.00 951,000.00 911,000.00Fund: 2234 - UNSAFE BUILDING FUND Total: 95.79%



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2025 Period Ending: 02/28/2025

3/18/2025 10:23:04 PM Page 4 of 6

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

ActivityDepartmen…

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

Percent
Remaining

Fund: 2240 - LIT - PUBLIC SAFETY

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 482,128.97185,335.093,049,000.00 3,377,347.50 2,895,218.53 85.72%

482,128.97185,335.093,049,000.00 3,377,347.50 2,895,218.53Fund: 2240 - LIT - PUBLIC SAFETY Total: 85.72%

Fund: 2258 - TOWNSHIP FIRE SUPPORT

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 14,677.321,703.68378,000.00 378,000.00 363,322.68 96.12%

14,677.321,703.68378,000.00 378,000.00 363,322.68Fund: 2258 - TOWNSHIP FIRE SUPPORT Total: 96.12%

Fund: 2500 - COURT FEES

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 2,325.85612.6654,700.00 54,700.00 52,374.15 95.75%

2,325.85612.6654,700.00 54,700.00 52,374.15Fund: 2500 - COURT FEES Total: 95.75%

Fund: 2501 - RESIDENTIAL LEASE FEES

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 8,781.403,704.9248,975.00 48,975.00 40,193.60 82.07%

8,781.403,704.9248,975.00 48,975.00 40,193.60Fund: 2501 - RESIDENTIAL LEASE FEES Total: 82.07%

Fund: 2504 - LECE FUND 1

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.0018,109.00 18,109.00 18,109.00 100.00%

0.000.0018,109.00 18,109.00 18,109.00Fund: 2504 - LECE FUND 1 Total: 100.00%

Fund: 2505 - STORM WATER MANAGEMNT

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 446,192.39397,652.631,937,885.00 1,940,885.00 1,494,692.61 77.01%

446,192.39397,652.631,937,885.00 1,940,885.00 1,494,692.61Fund: 2505 - STORM WATER MANAGEMNT Total: 77.01%

Fund: 2506 - ECON IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 4,721.214,615.0081,000.00 81,000.00 76,278.79 94.17%

4,721.214,615.0081,000.00 81,000.00 76,278.79Fund: 2506 - ECON IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT Total: 94.17%

Fund: 2508 - REDHAWK ACADEMY

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 3,829.503,265.6712,500.00 12,500.00 8,670.50 69.36%

3,829.503,265.6712,500.00 12,500.00 8,670.50Fund: 2508 - REDHAWK ACADEMY Total: 69.36%

Fund: 3301 - DEBT SERVICE

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 186,900.000.00373,275.00 373,275.00 186,375.00 49.93%

186,900.000.00373,275.00 373,275.00 186,375.00Fund: 3301 - DEBT SERVICE Total: 49.93%

Fund: 3311 - TIF BOND P & I PYMT FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 816,718.750.00820,889.00 820,889.00 4,170.25 0.51%

816,718.750.00820,889.00 820,889.00 4,170.25Fund: 3311 - TIF BOND P & I PYMT FUND Total: 0.51%

Fund: 3331 - TIF DEBT SERVICE RESERVE

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.000.00 217,393.75 217,393.75 100.00%

0.000.000.00 217,393.75 217,393.75Fund: 3331 - TIF DEBT SERVICE RESERVE Total: 100.00%

Fund: 4401 - CCI (CIGARETTE TAX) FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 6,662.441,095.1680,000.00 80,000.00 73,337.56 91.67%

6,662.441,095.1680,000.00 80,000.00 73,337.56Fund: 4401 - CCI (CIGARETTE TAX) FUND Total: 91.67%

Fund: 4402 - CUMULATIVE CAP DEVELOP

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.001,022,000.00 1,361,227.95 1,361,227.95 100.00%

0.000.001,022,000.00 1,361,227.95 1,361,227.95Fund: 4402 - CUMULATIVE CAP DEVELOP Total: 100.00%

Fund: 4425 - CCI FIRE STATION

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 65,289.847,437.89375,000.00 417,598.95 352,309.11 84.37%

65,289.847,437.89375,000.00 417,598.95 352,309.11Fund: 4425 - CCI FIRE STATION Total: 84.37%

Fund: 4428 - CCI STORM SEWER FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 1,174.700.002,700,000.00 2,700,000.00 2,698,825.30 99.96%

1,174.700.002,700,000.00 2,700,000.00 2,698,825.30Fund: 4428 - CCI STORM SEWER FUND Total: 99.96%

Fund: 4445 - TIF SOUTH EAST E.D.

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 847,334.88190,651.8420,065,890.00 22,440,621.85 21,593,286.97 96.22%

847,334.88190,651.8420,065,890.00 22,440,621.85 21,593,286.97Fund: 4445 - TIF SOUTH EAST E.D. Total: 96.22%

Fund: 4446 - TIF CONS RR/US 33/DT

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 390,511.08136,256.374,075,000.00 8,586,861.94 8,196,350.86 95.45%

390,511.08136,256.374,075,000.00 8,586,861.94 8,196,350.86Fund: 4446 - TIF CONS RR/US 33/DT Total: 95.45%



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2025 Period Ending: 02/28/2025

3/18/2025 10:23:04 PM Page 5 of 6

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

ActivityDepartmen…

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

Percent
Remaining

Fund: 4447 - TIF LIPPERT/DIERDORFF

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 453,597.9565,159.840.00 388,438.11 -65,159.84 -16.77%

453,597.9565,159.840.00 388,438.11 -65,159.84Fund: 4447 - TIF LIPPERT/DIERDORFF Total: -16.77%

Fund: 4502 - ARP FISCAL RECOV FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 33,917.2313,983.542,806,655.00 5,506,655.00 5,472,737.77 99.38%

33,917.2313,983.542,806,655.00 5,506,655.00 5,472,737.77Fund: 4502 - ARP FISCAL RECOV FUND Total: 99.38%

Fund: 4651 - CEMETERY CAPITAL IMPROV.

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.0045,800.00 45,800.00 45,800.00 100.00%

0.000.0045,800.00 45,800.00 45,800.00Fund: 4651 - CEMETERY CAPITAL IMPROV. Total: 100.00%

Fund: 4660 - 2015 GOB PROCEEDS

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.000.00120,000.00 120,000.00 120,000.00 100.00%

0.000.00120,000.00 120,000.00 120,000.00Fund: 4660 - 2015 GOB PROCEEDS Total: 100.00%

Fund: 4661 - 2021 GO BOND PROCEEDS

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 17,648.5017,648.503,149,049.00 3,149,049.00 3,131,400.50 99.44%

17,648.5017,648.503,149,049.00 3,149,049.00 3,131,400.50Fund: 4661 - 2021 GO BOND PROCEEDS Total: 99.44%

Fund: 8801 - FIRE PENSION FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 57,793.0557,213.05551,320.00 551,320.00 493,526.95 89.52%

57,793.0557,213.05551,320.00 551,320.00 493,526.95Fund: 8801 - FIRE PENSION FUND Total: 89.52%

Fund: 8802 - POLICE PENSION FUND

00 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL 27,533.0027,098.00410,050.00 410,050.00 382,517.00 93.29%

27,533.0027,098.00410,050.00 410,050.00 382,517.00Fund: 8802 - POLICE PENSION FUND Total: 93.29%

10,706,961.143,981,227.7092,267,287.00 108,506,966.76 97,800,005.62Expense Total: 90.13%

Report Surplus (Deficit): -1,865,403.06 -5,962,027.96-28,913,041.00 -45,152,720.76 39,190,692.80 86.80%



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2025 Period Ending: 02/28/2025

3/18/2025 10:23:04 PM Page 6 of 6

Fund Summary

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)Fund
Period

Activity
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

1101 - GENERAL FUND -2,601,747.30-885,325.79-5,449,779.00 -5,768,975.33 3,167,228.03

2201 - MVH FUND -283,576.37-157,212.01690,122.00 579,608.90 -863,185.27

2202 - LOCAL ROAD & STREET 110,121.6855,407.81-410,672.00 -949,819.00 1,059,940.68

2203 - MVH-RESTRICTED 61,049.2861,049.28-1,033,708.00 -1,033,708.00 1,094,757.28

2204 - PARKS AND RECREATION -368,535.67-222,655.89423,606.00 -300,394.00 -68,141.67

2206 - AVIATION FUND -66,397.12-43,581.50-303,613.00 -303,613.00 237,215.88

2209 - LIT - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 151,240.00219,002.97-1,687,594.00 -4,462,817.28 4,614,057.28

2214 - PROBATION FUND -8,201.00-2,262.9511,350.00 11,350.00 -19,551.00

2226 - REDEVELOPMENT OPERATING -47,779.73-17,172.82-228,350.00 -228,350.00 180,570.27

2228 - LECE2 FUND 3,324.982,408.76-36,000.00 -36,000.00 39,324.98

2234 - UNSAFE BUILDING FUND -38,707.39-39,259.50-85,000.00 -951,000.00 912,292.61

2240 - LIT - PUBLIC SAFETY -44,020.8133,068.99-406,151.00 -734,498.50 690,477.69

2256 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT UNRESTR 0.000.0019,500.00 19,500.00 -19,500.00

2257 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT RESTR 0.000.0045,600.00 45,600.00 -45,600.00

2258 - TOWNSHIP FIRE SUPPORT 335,322.68-1,703.68-28,000.00 -28,000.00 363,322.68

2500 - COURT FEES 7,924.753,763.26-34,000.00 -34,000.00 41,924.75

2501 - RESIDENTIAL LEASE FEES -3,766.40-1,439.9215,455.00 15,455.00 -19,221.40

2503 - ELECTRIC UTILITY SALE 35,778.8213,921.920.00 0.00 35,778.82

2504 - LECE FUND 1 0.000.00-18,109.00 -18,109.00 18,109.00

2505 - STORM WATER MANAGEMNT -442,146.08-397,227.63-1,330,058.00 -1,333,058.00 890,911.92

2506 - ECON IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT -4,721.21-4,615.00-15,500.00 -15,500.00 10,778.79

2508 - REDHAWK ACADEMY 21,170.50-3,265.6734,000.00 34,000.00 -12,829.50

3301 - DEBT SERVICE -186,900.000.008,157.00 8,157.00 -195,057.00

3311 - TIF BOND P & I PYMT FUND -816,718.750.000.00 0.00 -816,718.75

3331 - TIF DEBT SERVICE RESERVE 0.000.000.00 -217,393.75 217,393.75

4401 - CCI (CIGARETTE TAX) FUND -6,662.44-1,095.16-22,187.00 -22,187.00 15,524.56

4402 - CUMULATIVE CAP DEVELOP 0.000.00-198,037.00 -537,264.95 537,264.95

4425 - CCI FIRE STATION -65,289.84-7,437.89190,937.00 148,338.05 -213,627.89

4428 - CCI STORM SEWER FUND 21,521.8022,696.50-2,113,496.00 -2,113,496.00 2,135,017.80

4445 - TIF SOUTH EAST E.D. -746,324.22-176,603.84-10,698,690.00 -13,073,421.85 12,327,097.63

4446 - TIF CONS RR/US 33/DT -390,511.08-136,256.37-252,300.00 -4,764,161.94 4,373,650.86

4447 - TIF LIPPERT/DIERDORFF -453,597.95-65,159.84261,350.00 -127,088.11 -326,509.84

4502 - ARP FISCAL RECOV FUND -33,917.23-13,983.54-2,806,655.00 -5,506,655.00 5,472,737.77

4651 - CEMETERY CAPITAL IMPROV. 2,193.001,436.00-34,800.00 -34,800.00 36,993.00

4660 - 2015 GOB PROCEEDS 0.000.00-120,000.00 -120,000.00 120,000.00

4661 - 2021 GO BOND PROCEEDS -17,648.50-17,648.50-3,149,049.00 -3,149,049.00 3,131,400.50

8801 - FIRE PENSION FUND -57,793.05-57,213.05-91,320.00 -91,320.00 33,526.95

8802 - POLICE PENSION FUND -26,713.31-27,038.00-60,050.00 -60,050.00 33,336.69

Report Surplus (Deficit): -1,865,403.06 -5,962,027.96-28,913,041.00 -45,152,720.76 39,190,692.80



 
 

TO:  Goshen City Common Council, Mayor Gina Leichty 
 
FROM:  Richard Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer; Jeffery Weaver, Deputy Clerk-Treasurer  
 
RE:  Ordinance 5219: Establishing a Mobile Integrated Health Fund 
 
DATE:  March 24, 2025  
              
 
Thank you for considering the attached ordinance, Ordinance 5219: Establishing a Mobile Integrated Health Fund. 
This fund will support the Mobile Integrated Health (MIH) program, a collaborative initiative between the Goshen 
Fire Department, Goshen Police Department, and community stakeholders. The MIH program is designed to 
provide community-based healthcare, crisis intervention, and support services to individuals in need, while also 
working to reduce the burden on emergency services through a proactive, integrated approach. 
 
Because this program involves multiple departments and relies on various funding sources—including federal and 
state grants, local grants, donations, and other supplemental revenues—it is necessary to establish a dedicated fund 
to ensure clear financial tracking, compliance, and sustainability. This fund will allow for proper oversight and 
management of MIH-related expenses, such as equipment, supplies, and support services essential to the program’s 
success. 
 
The creation of this fund is a key step in a larger, ongoing effort that has involved months of preparation and 
coordination between the Goshen Police and Fire Departments. Establishing a separate fund will help ensure the 
continued growth and effectiveness of the MIH program while maintaining fiscal responsibility. We appreciate your 
support in formalizing this fund and reinforcing the City’s commitment to innovative public health and safety 
initiatives. 

  



 
Ordinance 5219 

 
Establishing a Mobile Integrated Health Fund 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Goshen recognizes the need for a coordinated approach to public health and emergency 
response; and 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Mobile Integrated Health (MIH) program is a collaborative effort between the Goshen Fire 
Department, Goshen Police Department, and Goshen community stakeholders to enhance community well-being; 
and 
 
 
WHEREAS, the MIH program aims to provide essential services, including community-based healthcare, crisis 
intervention, and support services for individuals in need; and 
 
 
WHEREAS, by integrating healthcare and law enforcement efforts, the MIH program seeks to take a proactive 
approach to public health, improve outcomes for individuals, and reduce the burden on emergency services; and 
 
 
WHEREAS, it is necessary to establish a separate fund within the City's general ledger to account for supplemental 
income supporting the Mobile Integrated Health program, including grants, donations, and miscellaneous revenues; 
and 
 
 
WHEREAS, the creation of the Mobile Integrated Health Fund will ensure proper financial management, 
transparency, and sustainability of these supplemental funding sources. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Goshen Common Council that: 
 
 

1. Establishment of Fund.  A Mobile Integrated Health Fund is hereby established within the City's general 
ledger. 

 
 

2. Sources of Funds.  The Mobile Integrated Health Fund shall consist of revenues from the following sources: 
 

a. Federal and State Grants, including but not limited to the Indiana Department of Homeland Security 
MIH Grant; 

 
b. Local Grants, including but not limited to the Elkhart County Health Department 2025 Health First 

Indiana Community Grant; and 
 

c. Donations and Other Revenues, including proceeds specifically intended to support the ongoing 
operations and projects of the Mobile Integrated Health program. 

 
 

3. Authorized Uses of Funds.  Monies deposited into the Mobile Integrated Health Fund shall be used 
exclusively to cover expenses associated with the Mobile Integrated Health program, including but not 
limited to the purchase of equipment, supplies, and support services necessary for program operations. 

 



4. Fiscal Year-End Balance and Termination.  The Mobile Integrated Health Fund shall be non-reverting, 
meaning any unspent balance at the end of a fiscal year shall remain within the fund for future program use.  
The fund shall terminate automatically, without further action by the Goshen Common Council, if the 
Mobile Integrated Health program is discontinued and all remaining funds have been expended in 
accordance with the conditions of the associated grants, donations, and other programmatic receipts.  Upon 
fund termination, any remaining balance shall revert to the General Fund. 
 

 
PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on March 24, 2025. 
 
 
               
        Presiding Officer 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on March ______, 2025, at the hour of _____:_____ ___.m. 
 
 
               
        Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 
APPROVED and ADOPTED on March ______, 2025. 
 
        
        
        Gina Leichty, Mayor 
 
 
 



 

 -1- 20250324 

ORDINANCE 5218 
 
 

Amend Ordinance 5198, 2025 Compensation for Civil City and Utilities 
Employees, to Add Positions Eligible to Receive the 
Tool/Work Shoe/Inclement Weather Gear Allowance 

 
 

WHEREAS, Ordinance 5198, 2025 Compensation for Civil City and Utilities Employees, was 
passed by the Goshen Common Council on October 28, 2024. 

WHEREAS, Ordinance 5198 has been amended by Ordinance 5214. 

WHEREAS, the City administration wishes to add certain positions to the list of positions eligible 
to receive the $350 tool/work show/inclement weather gear allowance in 2025. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that the Goshen Common Council amends Ordinance 
5198, 2025 Compensation for Civil City and Utilities Employees, Section 16, Tool/Work 
Shoe/Inclement Weather Gear Allowance, to read as follows: 

SECTION 16 Tool/Work Shoe/Inclement Weather Gear Allowance 

(A) Each employee in a position set forth in paragraph (B) below is eligible to receive a 
tool/work shoe/inclement weather gear allowance.  The employee may be reimbursed up 
to Three Hundred Fifty Dollars ($350) per year for the purchase of tools, work shoes, 
and/or inclement weather gear to be used in their employment.  The reimbursement shall 
be processed in the same manner as the clothing/work boot/physical fitness allowance. 

(B) Positions eligible to receive the tool/work shoe/inclement weather gear allowance include: 

(1) Central Garage - Fleet Maintenance Director 

(2) Central Garage - Fleet Maintenance Manager 

(3) Central Garage – Assistant Fleet Maintenance Manager 

(4) Parks and Recreation Department - Park Maintenance Manager 

(5) Street Department - Street Commissioner 

(6) Street Department - Assistant Street Commissioner 

(7) Street Department – Street Foreman 

(8) Wastewater Department - Wastewater Superintendent 

(9) Wastewater Department - Environmental Compliance Administrator 

(10) Wastewater Department – Wastewater Maintenance Manager 



 

 -2- 20250324 

(11) Wastewater Department - Assistant Wastewater Maintenance Manager 

(12) Water and Sewer Departments - Water and Sewer Superintendent 

(13) Water and Sewer Departments - Water Quality Manager 

(14) Water and Sewer Departments – Water and Sewer Construction and Distribution 
Supervisor 

(15) Environmental Resilience Department – Environmental Resilience Director 

(16) Environmental Resilience Department – Urban Forester 

(17) Environmental Resilience Department – Urban Forester Assistant 

(18) Engineering Department – Engineering Inspector 

(19) Engineering Department – Stormwater Coordinator 

(20) Engineering Department – Stormwater Inspector 

(21) Engineering Department – Stormwater Specialist 

(22) Building & Grounds – Building & Grounds Director  

(23) Building & Grounds – Building & Grounds Manager 

(24) Building & Grounds – Building & Grounds Maintenance Assistant 

PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on ____________________, 2025. 
 
             
       Gina M. Leichty, Presiding Officer 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on ____________________, 2025, at the hour 
of _____:_____ ___.m. 
 
             
       Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
APPROVED and ADOPTED on ____________________, 2025. 
 
             
       Gina M. Leichty, Mayor 
 



 
4934-6659-7395.1 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PROPOSED LEASE 
CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 

You are hereby notified that a public hearing will be held before the Common Council of 
the City of Goshen, Indiana on March 24, 2025 at the hour of 6:00 p.m. (local time) in the 
Council Chamber, Police/Courts Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana, upon a 
proposed lease ("Lease") to be entered into between the Goshen Municipal Building Corporation 
("Corporation"), as lessor, and the City of Goshen, Indiana ("City"), as lessee. 

The proposed Lease upon which the hearing will be held is for a term not to exceed 
twenty (20) years, commencing, with regard to the Interim Tracts (as defined in the Lease), on 
the date the lessor acquires fee simple title to the Interim Tracts and commencing, with regard to 
the Project Tract (as defined in the Lease), with the completion of the Project (as defined in the 
Lease) by the Corporation, as set forth in the Lease.  With regard to the Interim Tracts, the Lease 
provides for a maximum annual rate of $1,200,000 payable semiannually on January 15 and 
July 15 through and including January 15, 2027 ("Interim Period").  At the end of the Interim 
Period, the Lease provides for a maximum annual lease rental of $1,500,000 payable 
semiannually on January 15 and July 15 of each year during the term of the Lease.  At the end of 
the Interim Period, the first rental installment shall be due on the day the Project constructed on 
the Project Tract is completed and ready for use or July 15, 2027, whichever is later.  Lease 
rentals will be payable from an ad valorem property tax levied and collected on all taxable 
property in the City.  As additional rental, the lessee shall pay or cause to be paid all taxes and 
assessments against such property, as well as the cost of alterations and repairs, and shall pay 
rebate amounts to the United States Treasury.  The Lease requires the lessee to maintain 
insurance on the Project and to bear all cost of alterations and repairs.  After the sale by the 
Corporation of its bonds to pay for the cost of the Project, including the acquisition of the site or 
sites therefor and other expenses incidental thereto, the annual rental shall be reduced to an 
amount equal to the multiple of $1,000 next higher than the sum of principal and interest due on 
such bonds in each twelve-month period ending on any bond payment date (bond year), plus an 
amount not to exceed $5,000, payable in equal semiannual installments. 

The lease gives an option to the lessee to purchase the Project on any rental payment 
date.  The Project includes the construction of a new municipal pool, together with all necessary 
appurtenances, related improvements and equipment, as more fully set forth in Exhibit A of the 
lease.  The estimates for the cost of the Project as well as a copy of the proposed lease, are 
available for inspection by the public on all business days, during business hours, at the office of 
the Clerk-Treasurer, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana. 

At such hearing, all persons interested shall have a right to be heard upon the necessity 
for the execution of the Lease, and upon whether the lease rental provided for therein to be paid 
to the Corporation is a fair and reasonable rental for the proposed Project.  Such hearing may be 
adjourned to a later date or dates, and following such hearing the Common Council may either 
authorize the execution of such lease as originally agreed upon or may make modifications 
therein as may be agreed upon with the Corporation. 

Dated March 6, 2025. 

/s/ Richard R. Aguirre  
Clerk-Treasurer, City of Goshen, Indiana 



1 

GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
RESOLUTION 2025-06 

 
Approving and Authorizing the Execution of a Lease Agreement between 

the Goshen Municipal Building Corporation and the City of Goshen, Indiana 
for the Municipal Pool Project 

 
WHEREAS, the Goshen Municipal Building Corporation (the “Corporation”) has been organized 
pursuant to the Indiana Non-Profit Corporation Act of 1991 for the purpose of acquiring a site or 
sites, constructing, renovating, expanding, and equipping governmental buildings, including the 
construction of a new municipal pool, together with all necessary appurtenances, related 
improvements, and equipment (the “Project”) for use by the City of Goshen, Indiana (the “City”); 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Corporation proposes to construct the Project and lease the Project to the City; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, a notice of public hearing on the proposed lease was published in the Goshen News 
on March 6, 2025, and the Goshen Common Council held the public hearing on March 24, 2025, 
in which all persons were given the right to be heard upon the necessity for the execution of the 
lease, and upon whether the lease rental provided for therein to be paid to the Corporation by City 
is fair and reasonable rental for the proposed Project; and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed Lease Agreement (the “Lease”), a copy of which is attached to this 
resolution, is to provide for the financing of the construction of the Project.  The proposed Lease 
will be for a maximum term of twenty (20) years with a maximum annual lease rental of 
$1,200,000 with regard to the Interim Tracts (as defined in the Lease) and, at the end of the Interim 
Period ( as defined in the Lease), a maximum annual lease rental of $1,500,000.  The maximum 
annual lease rentals have been estimated based upon an estimated principal amount of bonds of 
$14,000,000, estimated interest rates ranging from 3.50% to 4.75%, and total estimated interest 
costs of $7,050,000.  The City’s current debt service levy is $350,585 and the current debt service 
rate is $0.0197.  After the City enters into the proposed lease agreement and the bonds are issued, 
the debt service levy will increase by a maximum of $710,565 and the debt service rate will 
increase by a maximum of $0.0399. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Goshen Common Council of the City of Goshen, 
Indiana, that: 
 
1. The Common Council finds that the necessity for the execution of such Lease Agreement 

and the lease rentals provided therein are fair and reasonable rentals for the Project. 
 

2. The Common Council approves and authorizes the Mayor and Clerk-Treasurer to execute 
the proposed Lease Agreement between the Goshen Municipal Building Corporation as 
Lessor and the City of Goshen, Indiana as Lessee for the Project in substantially the form 
as attached to this resolution, together with any minor modifications deemed necessary or 
appropriate to finalize the Lease. 



2 

 
 
PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on ____________________, 2025. 
 
             
       Gina M. Leichty, Presiding Officer 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on ____________________, 2025, at the hour 
of _____:_____ ___.m. 
 
             
       Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
APPROVED and ADOPTED on ____________________, 2025. 
 
             
       Gina M. Leichty, Mayor 
 



 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 
 

Between 
 

GOSHEN MUNICIPAL BUILDING CORPORATION 
LESSOR 

 
 

and 
 
 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 
LESSEE 

 
 
 
 

Executed this ______ day of March, 2025 
 



 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 
 

LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT ("Lease") entered into this _____ day of March, 2025, 

between the GOSHEN MUNICIPAL BUILDING CORPORATION, an Indiana corporation 

("Lessor"), and the CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA, a municipal corporation existing under the 

laws of the State of Indiana ("Lessee" or "City"),  

WITNESSETH THAT: 

WHEREAS, the Lessor has been organized under the Indiana Non-Profit Corporation Act 

of 1991 and in pursuance of the provisions of Indiana Code 5-1-14 and Indiana Code 36-1-10 for 

the purpose of acquiring a site or sites, constructing, renovating, expanding and equipping 

governmental buildings, including acquiring land, existing building or buildings and demolition 

thereof, constructing, renovating, improving, or expanding the same, leasing governmental 

facilities, including the construction of a new municipal pool, together with all necessary 

appurtenances, related improvements and equipment for the City any other reasonably related 

costs;  

WHEREAS, the Lessor, after entering into a guaranteed maximum price contract pursuant 

to applicable law, has entered or will enter into contracts with one or more general contractors for 

the construction of the Project in accordance with such plans and specifications; and 

WHEREAS, the annual rentals to be paid under the Lease by the Lessee will be derived 

from an ad valorem property tax levied on all property taxpayers in the City; 

1. Premises, Term and Warranty.  The Lessor does hereby lease, demise and let to 

Lessee the real estate in the City more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and made 

a part hereof, consisting of City owned buildings located at 320 Steury Avenue, 475 Steury 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 2 - 

Avenue, 610 East Plymouth Avenue, 524 East Jackson Street and 410 West Plymouth Avenue 

(collectively, "Interim Tracts") and the real estate located at 411 W. Plymouth Avenue upon which 

a new municipal pool will be constructed as more particularly described in Exhibit B attached 

hereto and made a part hereof ("Project Tract"), including  all necessary appurtenances, related 

improvements and equipment (collectively, "Project") to be constructed by the Lessor according 

to plans and specifications prepared by engineers employed by the Lessee ("Leased Premises").  

Upon the completion of the Project on the Project Tract, the parties agree to execute a termination 

of the Lease solely as to the existing City properties located on the Interim Tracts, at which time 

the Interim Tracts will be removed from the definition of Leased Premises. 

The above-mentioned plans and specifications may be changed, additional construction 

work may be performed and equipment may be acquired by Lessor, but only with the approval of 

Lessee, and only if such changes or modifications or additional construction work or equipment 

do not alter the character of the buildings or reduce the value thereof.  Any such additional 

construction work or equipment shall be part of the property covered by this Lease.  The above-

mentioned plans and specifications have been filed with and approved by Lessee. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Leased Premises with all rights privileges, easements and 

appurtenances thereunto belonging, unto Lessee, for a term of twenty (20) years, beginning, with 

regard to the Interim Tracts, on the date the Lessor acquires fee simple title to the Interim Tracts 

and beginning, with regard to the Project Tract, on the date on which the Project is ready for use 

and ending one day prior to such date twenty (20) years thereafter.  However, the term of this 

Lease will terminate at the earlier of:  (a) the exercise by the Lessee of the option to purchase the 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 3 - 

Leased Premises and the payment of the option price; or (b) the payment or defeasance of all bonds 

issued: (i) to finance the cost of the Leased Premises; (ii) to refund such bonds; (iii) to refund such 

refunding bonds; or (iv) to improve the Leased Premises.  The Lessor hereby represents that it is 

possessed of, or will acquire, a good and indefeasible estate in fee simple to the above-described 

real estate, and Lessor warrants and will defend the same against all claims whatsoever not suffered 

or caused by the acts or omissions of Lessee or its assigns. 

With regard to the Interim Tracts, the date the Lessor acquires fee simple title to the Interim 

Tracts as further described in Exhibit A shall be endorsed on this Lease at the end hereof by parties 

hereto as soon as the same can be done after such acquisition, and such endorsement shall be 

recorded as an addendum to this Lease.  The Lessor hereby represents that it is possessed of, or 

will acquire, a good and indefeasible estate in fee simple to the Interim Tracts, and Lessor warrants 

and will defend the same against all claims whatsoever not suffered or caused by the acts or 

omissions of Lessee or its assigns. 

With regard to the Project Tract, the date the Project on the Project Tract is substantially 

completed and ready for use shall be endorsed on this Lease at the end hereof by the parties hereto 

as soon as the same can be done after such completion, and such endorsement shall be recorded as 

an addendum to this Lease.  The Lessor hereby represents that it is possessed of, or will acquire, a 

good and indefeasible estate in fee simple to the Project Tract, and Lessor warrants and will defend 

the same against all claims whatsoever not suffered or caused by the acts or omissions of Lessee 

or its assigns. 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 4 - 

1. Rental Payments.  With regard to the Interim Tracts, the Lessee agrees to pay rental 

at the maximum annual rate of $1,200,000, payable semiannually on January 15 and July 15 

("Interim Rentals"), January 15, 2026 through and including January 15, 2027 for the lease of the 

Leased Premises (collectively, "Interim Period").   At the end of the Interim Period, the Lessee 

agrees to pay rental for the Leased Premises at the maximum annual rate of $1,500,000 payable 

semiannually on January 15 and July 15 during the term of the Lease.  At the end of the Interim 

Period, the first rental installment shall be due on the day that the Project constructed and equipped 

on the Project Tract is completed and ready for use July 15, 2027, whichever is later.  If the 

completion date is later than July 15, 2027, the first full rental payment shall be in an amount 

calculated at the annual rate from the date of payment to the next January 15 or July 15.  Thereafter, 

rental shall be payable in advance in semiannual installments on January 15 and July 15 of each 

year.  The last semiannual rental payment due before the expiration of this Lease shall be adjusted 

to provide for rental at the annual rate specified above from the date such installment is due to the 

date of the expiration of this Lease. 

All Interim Rentals and other rentals payable under the terms of this Lease (collectively, 

"Lease Rentals") shall be paid by the Lessee to the bank selected as Trustee ("Trustee") under the 

Trust Indenture between it and the Lessor ("Indenture") or to such other bank or trust company as 

may from time to time succeed such bank as Trustee under the Indenture securing the bonds to be 

issued by the Lessor to finance the acquisition and construction of the Leased Premises.  All 

payments so made by the Lessee shall be considered as payment to the Lessor of the Lease Rentals 

payable hereunder.  The bank selected as Trustee shall be endorsed on this Lease at the end hereof 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 5 - 

by the parties hereto as soon as the same can be done after selection, and such endorsement shall 

be recorded as an addendum to this Lease.  The date all of the Leased Premises is completed and 

ready for use shall be endorsed on this Lease at the end hereof by the parties hereto as soon as the 

same can be done after such completion, and such endorsement shall be recorded as an addendum 

to this Lease. 

After the sale of the bonds issued to finance the acquisition, construction and equipping of 

the Leased Premises, the annual rental amount provided for in the first paragraph of this Section 2 

shall be reduced to an amount equal to the multiple of $1,000 next higher than the sum of principal 

and interest due on such bonds in each twelve-month period ending on any bond payment date 

(bond year) plus a maximum of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000), payable in semiannual 

installments commencing no earlier than the later of the date or dates the Leased Premises are 

ready for use or January 15, 2026.  Such amount of reduced Interim Rentals shall be endorsed on 

this Lease at the end hereof by the parties hereto as soon as the same can be done after the sale of 

said bonds and such endorsement shall be recorded as an addendum to this Lease. 

2. Additional Rental Payments.  The Lessee shall pay as further rental for the Leased 

Premises all taxes and assessments levied against or on account of the Leased Premises and/or the 

receipt of lease rental payments.  Any and all such payments shall be made and satisfactory 

evidence of such payments in the form of receipts shall be furnished to the Lessor by the Lessee, 

at least three (3) days before the last day upon which the same must be paid to avoid delinquency.  

In case the Lessee shall in good faith desire to contest the validity of any such tax or assessment, 

and shall so notify the Lessor, and shall furnish bond with surety to the approval of the Lessor 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 6 - 

conditioned for the payment of the charges so desired to be contested and all damages or loss 

resulting to the Lessor from the nonpayment thereof when due, the Lessee shall not be obligated 

to pay the same until such contests shall have been determined.  The Lessee shall pay as further 

rental the amount calculated by or for Lessor as the amount required to be rebated or paid as a 

penalty in lieu of rebate to the United States Treasury, after taking into account other available 

moneys, to prevent the first mortgage bonds issued to finance the acquisition and construction of 

the Leased Premises from becoming arbitrage obligations under  Section 148 of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("Code"). 

3. Abatement of Rent.  In the event the Leased Premises shall be partially or totally 

destroyed, whether by fire or any other casualty, or are taken under the exercise of the power of 

eminent domain, so as render them unfit, in whole or part, for use or occupancy by the Lessee, it 

shall then be the obligation of the Lessor to restore and rebuild the Leased Premises as promptly 

as may be done, unavoidable strikes and other causes beyond the control of the Lessor excepted; 

provided, however, that the Lessor shall not be obligated to expend on such restoration or 

rebuilding more than the amount of the proceeds received by the Lessor from the insurance 

provided for in Section 6 hereof or the condemnation proceeds received by the Lessor, whichever 

is applicable. 

If there is in force on the date of partial or total destruction or taking insurance on the 

Leased Premises and the rental value thereof, in accordance with the provisions of Section 6 

hereof, the rent shall be abated for the period during which the Leased Premises or any part thereof 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 7 - 

are unfit or unavailable for occupancy and shall be in proportion to the percentage of floor area 

which is unfit or unavailable for use. 

4. Maintenance, Alterations and Repairs.  The Lessee assumes all responsibility for 

maintenance, repairs and alterations to the Leased Premises.  At the end of the term, Lessee shall 

deliver the Leased Premises to Lessor in as good condition as at the beginning of the term, 

reasonable wear and tear only excepted.  Equipment or other personal property which becomes 

worn out or obsolete may be discarded or sold by Lessee.  The proceeds of the sale of any personal 

property shall be paid to the Trustee.  Lessee may trade in any obsolete or worn-out personal 

property on replacement property which replacement property will belong to Lessee upon payment 

to the Trustee of an amount equal to the trade-in value of such property.  Lessee need not replace 

worn out or obsolete personal property, but may replace such property at its own expense, and the 

replacement property shall belong to Lessee. 

5. Insurance.  Lessee, at its own expense, will, during the full term of the Lease, keep 

the Leased Premises insured against physical loss or damage, however caused, with such 

exceptions as are ordinarily required by insurers of buildings or facilities of a similar type, with 

good and responsible insurance companies acceptable to Lessor.  Such insurance shall be in an 

amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the full replacement cost of the Leased Premises 

as certified by a registered architect, registered engineer or professional appraisal engineers, 

selected by the Lessor, on the effective date of this Lease and on or before the first day of April of 

each year thereafter.  Such appraisal may be based upon a recognized index of conversion factors.  

During the full term of this Lease, Lessee will also, at its own expense, maintain rent or rental 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 8 - 

value insurance in amount equal to the full rental value of the Leased Premises for a period of two 

(2) years against physical loss or damage of the type insured against pursuant to the preceding 

requirements of this clause.  During the full term of this Lease, Lessee will also, at its own expense, 

carry combined bodily injury insurance, including accidental death, and property damage with 

reference to the Leased Premises in an amount not less than Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) 

on account of each occurrence with one or more good and responsible insurance companies.  The 

public liability insurance required herein may be by blanket insurance policy or policies. 

The proceeds of the public liability insurance required herein (after payment of expenses 

incurred in the collection of such proceeds) shall be applied toward extinguishment or satisfaction 

of the liability with respect to which such insurance proceeds are paid.  Such policies shall be for 

the benefit of persons having an insurable interest in the Leased Premises and shall be made 

payable to the Lessor or to such other person or persons as the Lessor may designate.  Such policies 

shall be countersigned by an agent of the insurer who is a resident of the State of Indiana, and such 

policies (or certificates of insurance for each policy) and the certificate of the architect or engineer 

hereinbefore referred to shall be deposited with the Lessor.  If, at any time, the Lessee fails to 

maintain insurance in accordance with this Section, such insurance may be obtained by the Lessor 

and the amount paid therefor shall be added to the amount of rental payable by the Lessee under 

this Lease; provided, however, that the Lessor shall be under no obligation to obtain such insurance 

and any action or non-action of the Lessor in this regard shall not relieve the Lessee of any 

consequence of its default in failing to obtain such insurance, including its obligation to continue 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 9 - 

the rental payments in case of total or partial destruction of the building as provided in Section 4 

hereof. 

6. Eminent Domain.  If title to or the temporary use of the Leased Premises, or any 

part thereof, shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain by any governmental 

body or by any person, firm or corporation acting under governmental authority, any net proceeds 

received from any award made in such eminent domain proceedings (after payment of expenses 

incurred in such collection) shall be paid to and held by Lessor. 

Such proceeds shall be applied in one or more of the following ways: 

(a)  The restoration of the Leased Premises to substantially the same condition as it existed 

prior to the exercise of said power of eminent domain, or 

(b)  The acquisition, by construction or otherwise, of other improvements suitable for the 

Lessee's operations on the Leased Premises and which are in furtherance of the purposes of Indiana 

Code, Title 36, Article 1, Chapter 10 (which improvements shall be deemed a part of the Leased 

Premises and available for use and occupancy by the Lessee without the payment of any rent other 

than as herein provided, to the same extent as if such other improvements were specifically 

described herein and demised hereby). 

Within ninety (90) days from the date of entry of a final order in any eminent domain 

proceedings granting condemnation, the Lessee shall direct Lessor in writing as to which of the 

ways specified in this Section the Lessee elects to have the net proceeds of the condemnation award 

applied.  Any balance of the net proceeds of the award in such eminent domain proceedings not 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 10 - 

required to be applied for the purposes specified in subsections (a) or (b) above shall be deposited 

by Lessor in the Sinking Fund held by the Trustee under the Indenture. 

Lessor shall cooperate fully with the Lessee in the handling and conduct of any prospective 

or pending condemnation proceedings with respect to the Leased Premises or any part thereof and 

will to the extent it may lawfully do so permit the Lessee to litigate in any such proceedings in its 

own name or in the name and on behalf of the Lessor.  In no event will Lessor voluntarily settle or 

consent to the settlement of any prospective or pending condemnation proceedings with respect to 

the Leased Premises or any part thereof without the written consent of the Lessee, which consent 

shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

7. General Covenants.  The Lessee shall not assign this Lease or sublet the Leased 

Premises herein described without the written consent of Lessor.  Lessee shall use and maintain 

the Leased Premises in accordance with the laws and ordinances of the United States of America, 

the State of Indiana, and all other proper governmental authorities.  The Lessee covenants that in 

any contracts entered into by the Lessee providing for the use of the Leased Premises, which 

involve the conduct of a separate trade or business, (a) the Leased Premises would be used only 

(i) by a Governmental Unit within the meaning of Section 141 of the Code or (ii) by 

non-Governmental Units on the same basis as other members of the general public or (b) would 

not in the aggregate result in payments to the Lessee in an amount in excess of 5% of the principal 

of and interest on the first mortgage bonds issued under the Indenture. 

8. Option to Renew.  Lessor hereby grants to Lessee the right and option to renew this 

Lease for a further like or lesser term upon the same or like conditions as herein contained, and 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 11 - 

applicable to the portion of the premises for which the renewal applies, and Lessee shall exercise 

this option by written notice to Lessor given upon any rental payment date prior to the expiration 

of this Lease. 

9. Option to Purchase.  Lessor hereby grants to Lessee the right and option, on any 

rental payment date, upon sixty (60) days' written notice to Lessor, to purchase the Leased 

Premises at a price equal to the amount required to enable Lessor to liquidate by paying all 

indebtedness, including all premiums payable on the redemption thereof and accrued and unpaid 

interest and by paying the expenses and charges of liquidation.  In no event, however, shall such 

purchase price exceed the capital actually invested in such property by Lessor represented by 

outstanding securities or existing indebtedness plus the cost of transferring the property and 

liquidating the Lessor.  The phrase "capital actually invested" as used herein shall be construed to 

include, but not by way of limitation, the following amounts expended by the Lessor:  organization 

and incorporation expenses, financing costs, carry charges, legal fees, architects' fees and 

reasonable costs and expenses incidental thereto. 

Upon request of the Lessee made not less than sixty (60) days prior thereto, the Lessor 

agrees to furnish an itemized statement setting forth the amount required to be paid by the Lessee 

on the next rental payment date in order to purchase the Leased Premises in accordance with the 

preceding paragraph.  Upon the exercise of the option to purchase granted herein, Lessor will upon 

payment of the option price deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Lessee documents conveying 

to the Lessee all of the Lessor's title to the property being purchased, as such property then exists, 

subject to the following:  (i) those liens and encumbrances (if any) to which title to said property 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 12 - 

was subject when conveyed to Lessor; (ii) those liens and encumbrances created by the Lessee or 

to the creation or suffering of which the Lessee consented, and liens for taxes or special 

assessments not then delinquent; and (iii) those liens and encumbrances on its part contained in 

this Lease. 

In the event of purchase of the Leased Premises by the Lessee or conveyance of the same 

to the Lessee, the Lessee shall procure and pay for all surveys, title searches, abstracts, title policies 

and legal services that may be required, and shall furnish at the Lessee's expense all documentary 

stamps or tax payments required for the transfer of title. 

Nothing contained herein shall be construed to provide that Lessee shall be under any 

obligation to purchase the Leased Premises, or under any obligation in respect to the creditors, 

members, or security holders of the Lessor. 

10. Transfer to Lessee.  In the event the Lessee has not exercised its option to renew in 

accordance with the provisions of Section 9 hereof, and has not exercised its option to purchase 

the Leased Premises in accordance with the provisions of Section 10 hereof, and upon the full 

discharge and performance by the Lessee of its obligations under this Lease, the Leased Premises 

shall thereupon become the absolute property of the Lessee and upon the Lessee's request, Lessor 

shall execute proper instruments conveying to the Lessee all of Lessor's title thereto. 

11. Defaults.  If the Lessee shall default (a) in the payment of any rentals or other sums 

payable to the Lessor hereunder, or in the payment of any other sum herein required to be paid for 

the Lessor; or (b) in the observance of any other covenant, agreement or condition hereof, and such 

default shall continue for sixty (60) days after written notice to correct the same; then, in any or 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 13 - 

either of such events, the Lessor may proceed to protect and enforce its rights by suit or suits in 

equity or at law in any court of competent jurisdiction, whether for specific performance of any 

covenant or agreement contained herein, or for the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or 

equitable remedy; or the Lessor, at its option, without further notice, may terminate the estate and 

interest of the Lessee hereunder, and it shall be lawful for the Lessor forthwith to resume 

possession of the Leased Premises and the Lessee covenants to surrender the same forthwith upon 

demand. 

The exercise by the Lessor of the above right to terminate this Lease shall not release the 

Lessee from the performance of any obligation hereof maturing prior to the Lessor's actual entry 

into possession.  No waiver by the Lessor of any right to terminate this Lease upon any default 

shall operate to waive such right upon the same or other default subsequently occurring. 

12. Notices.  Whenever either party shall be required to give notice to the other under 

this Lease, it shall be sufficient service of such notice to deposit the same in the United States mail, 

in an envelope duly stamped, registered and addressed to the other party or parties at the following 

addresses:  (a) to Lessor:  Goshen Municipal Building Corporation, Attention:  President, 202 

South 5th Street, Goshen, Indiana 46528; (b) to Lessee:  City of Goshen, Indiana, Attention:  Clerk-

Treasurer, 202 South 5th Street, Goshen, Indiana 46528; (c) to Trustee:  at the address shown on 

the Addendum referred to in the first paragraph of Section 2 hereof. 

Lessor and Lessee may by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different 

addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be sent. 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 14 - 

13. Successors or Assigns.  All covenants of this Lease, whether by Lessor or Lessee, 

shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the respective parties hereto. 

14. Construction of Covenants.  Lessor was organized for the purpose of acquiring, 

constructing, renovating and leasing governmental buildings and leasing the same to Lessee under 

the provisions of Indiana Code, Title 36, Article 1, Chapter 10.  All provisions herein contained 

shall be construed in accordance with the provisions of said statutes, and to the extent of 

inconsistencies, if any, between the covenants and agreements in this Lease and the provisions of 

said statutes, said statutes shall be deemed to be controlling and binding upon Lessor and Lessee. 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 15 - 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Lease to be executed for 

and on their behalf the day and year first hereinabove written. 

GOSHEN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 
CORPORATION 

 
 
      By:  ________________________________ 
       President 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary 
 
       



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 16 - 

LESSEE 
 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 
      By:  __________________________ 
 Mayor 
  
(Seal) 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
By:  ______________________________  
        Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 17 - 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said City and State, personally 
appeared ________________________ and ________________________, personally known to 
me to be the President and Secretary, respectively, of the Goshen Municipal Building Corporation, 
and acknowledged the execution of the foregoing Lease for and on behalf of said Corporation. 

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this ______ day of _________________, 2025. 

 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      (Written Signature) 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      (Printed Name) 
(Seal) 
 
Notary Public 
 
My Commission Expires: My County of Residence: 
 
______________________ ______________________ 
 
 
My Commission Number: 
 
______________________ 
 
 



 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 
 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said City and State, personally 
appeared Gina Leichty and Richard Aguirre, personally known to me to be the Mayor and Clerk-
Treasurer, respectively, of the City of Goshen, Indiana, and acknowledged the execution of the 
foregoing Lease for and on behalf of said City. 

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this ______ day of ______________, 2025. 

 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      (Written Signature) 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      (Printed Name) 
(Seal) 
 
Notary Public 
 
My Commission Expires: My County of Residence: 
 
 
______________________ ______________________ 
 
My Commission Number: 
 
______________________ 
 
 
 
 

I affirm, under the penalties for perjury, that I have taken reasonable care to redact each 
social security number in this document, unless required by law.  Lisa A. Lee 

 
 
 
 
 
This instrument was prepared by Lisa A. Lee, Ice Miller, LLP, One American Square, Suite 2900, 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46282. 
 



 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

INTERIM TRACTS 
 
TRACT I: 
 
Legal Description – 320 Steury Avenue, Goshen, Indiana 
 
Lot 176 in the unrecorded plat of Hastings Lincoln Avenue Addition to Goshen, Indiana, and more 
particularly described as follows: 
 
Commencing at an iron pipe marking the Northwest corner of Lot 5 in the recorded plat of Modern 
Home Plaza Addition to Goshen, Indiana; thence South 00 degrees, 01 minute, 49 seconds West, 
along the East right-of-way of Steury Avenue, 249.77 feet, to an iron pipe at the point of beginning 
of this description,; thence continuing along the last described line and bearing, 100.0 feet, to an 
iron pipe; thence East, 440.0 feet; thence North 00 degress 01 minutes, 49 seconds East, 100.0 
feet; thence West, 440.0 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
ALSO: 
 
Lot 177 in the unrecorded plat of Hastings Lincoln Avenue Addition to Goshen, Indiana, and more 
particularly described as follows: 
 
Commencing at an iron pipe marking the Northeast corner of Lot 5 in the recorded plat of Modern 
Home Plaza Addition to Goshen, Indiana; thence South 00 degrees, 01 minute, 49 seconds West, 
along the East right-of-way of Steury Avenue, 349.77 feet to an iron pipe at the point of beginning 
of this description; thence continuing along the last described line and bearing, 100.0 feet, to a 
rebar; thence East, 440.0 feet; thence North 00 degrees, 01 minute, 49 seconds East, 100.00 feet; 
thence West, 440.0 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
Legal Description – 475 Steury Avenue, Goshen, IN 
 
A part of the East Half (E ½) of the Southwest Quarter (SW ¼) of Section Three (3), and the East 
Half (E ½) of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼) of Section Ten (10), both in Township Thirty-six 
(36) North, Range Six (6) East, more particularly described as follows: 
 
A tract on the west side of Steury Avenue (formerly Hastings Street) in the City of Goshen, 
Indiana; commencing at a stone  marking the southwest corner of the East Half (E ½) of the 
Southwest Quarter (SW ¼) of Section Three (3), Township Thirty-six (36) North, Range Six (6) 
East; thence N.8946'00"E. along the line dividing Sections Three (3) and Ten (10) of said 
Township and Range, a distance of 453.10 feet to an iron stake; thence N.0045'00"E., a distance 
of 365.7 feet to an iron stake, and the place of beginning of this description; thence N.8938'00"E., 
a distance of 368.65 feet to the west line of Steury Avenue (formerly Hastings Street); thence 
S.0022'00"E., a distance of 1,395.31 feet to the southeast corner of Lot Numbered 148 of the 
unrecorded Plat of Hastings Lincoln Avenue Addition to the City of Goshen, and the north line of 
Center Street; thence S.8904'00"W. along the north line of Center Street, a distance of 396 feet; 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 2 - 

thence N.0045'00"E., a distance of 1,399.2 feet to the place of beginning, being Lots Numbered 
148 to 161, inclusive, on the unrecorded Plat of Hastings Lincoln Avenue Addition to the City of 
Goshen, Indiana. 
 
LESS AND EXCEPTING:  
 
A part of the Southwest Quarter (SW ¼) of Section Three (3), Township Thirty-six (36) North,  
Range Six (6) East, City of Goshen, Elkhart Township, Elkhart County, Indiana, more particularly 
described as follows: 
 
Beginning at a ¾ inch iron pipe in concrete marking the southwest corner of James Minor 
Subdivision (Plat Book 26, page 33); thence 
 
1. N.8956'24"E. (assumed bearing) along the south line of said James Minor Subdivision, a 
distance of 368.61 feet to a ¾ inch iron pipe in concrete marking the southeast corner of said 
subdivision and being the west right-of-way line of Steury Avenue (formerly Hastings Street); 
thence 
2. S.0006'04"E. along said right-of-way, a distance of 80.00 feet to a rebar with cap marked 
Brads-Ko 0041; thence 
3. S.8956'31"W., a distance of 371.18 feet to a rebar with cap marked Brads-Ko 0041 in the 
east line of land owned by Gregory S. and Stephanna L. Faubion (Instrument #2005-10250); 
thence 
4. N.0057'02"E. along said Faubion land, a distance of 80.00 feet to the beginning. 
 
Containing 0.68 acre, more or less. 
 
Containing 11.6 acres, more or less. 
Parcel No. 20-11-10-126-009.000-015 
 
 
Legal Description – 610 E. Plymouth Avenue, Goshen, Indiana 
 
A part of the West Half (W 1/2) of the Northwest Quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 15, Township 36 
North, Range 6 East, Elkhart Township, City of Goshen, Elkhart County, Indiana and more 
particularly described as follows: 
 
Commencing at an iron pipe marking the intersection of the South line of the West Half (W 1/2) 
of the Northwest Quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 15 and the East line of the former C.C.C. & St. 
Louis Railroad right of way; thence on an assumed bearing of due North along the East line of said 
railroad right of way, a distance of 330.50 feet to a rebar marking the intersection of the North line 
of Jackson Street and the East line of said railroad right of way and the point of beginning of this 
description; thence continuing on a bearing of due North along the East line of said railroad right 
of way, a distance of 414.73 feet to a rebar marking the intersection of the South line of Plymouth 
Avenue and the East line of said railroad right of way; thence South 88 degrees 45 minutes 00 
seconds East along the South line of Plymouth Avenue, a distance of 170.68 feet to a rebar marking 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 3 - 

the intersection of the South line of Plymouth Avenue and the West line of a 20 foot wide alley; 
thence South 0 degrees 02 minutes 00 seconds East along the West line of said alley, a distance of 
413.67 feet to a rebar marking the intersection of the West line of said alley and the North line of 
Jackson Street; thence North 89 degrees 06 minutes 30 seconds West along the North line of 
Jackson Street, a distance of 170.90 feet to the point of beginning of this description. 
 
Legal Description – 524 E. Jackson Street, Goshen, Indiana 
 
Lots Numbered Ten (10), Eleven (11), Twelve (12), Thirteen (13), Fourteen (14), Fifteen (15), 
Sixteen (16), Seventeen (17), Eighteen (18), Nineteen (19), Twenty (20), and Twenty-one (21) as 
the said Lots are known and designated on the recorded Plat of the Harper & Burris Addition to 
the City of Goshen thereof recorded in Plat Book 1, page 126 in the Office of the Recorder of 
Elkhart County, Indiana, and the North Half (1/2) of the vacated alley adjacent to the South of Lots 
Numbered Ten (1) and Eleven (11). 
 
Legal Description – 410 W. Plymouth Avenue 
 
Commencing on the East and West center line running through Section 16, Township 36 North, 
Range 6 East, where it intersects the West line of the Hydraulic Race Bank; thence West on said 
center line to the Elkhart River; thence following the meanderings of said river to Plymouth 
Avenue or Road; thence Eastwardly along said avenue or road to the center of Third Street in 
Goshen, Indiana; thence Southerly across the said Hydraulic Canal to the West line of the bank of 
said Hydraulic Canal at a point due West of the Northwest corner of Lot 39 in Wilson and 
Bartholomew's Addition to Goshen, Indiana; thence Southerly along the West line of said 
Hydraulic Canal on the race bank to the place of beginning, containing 16.80 acres, more or less. 
 
AND 
 
The West end of Lot Number Four (4), School Section Sixteen (16) Township Thirty-six (36) 
north, Range six (6) east, Goshen, Corporation, Elkhart County, Indiana. 
 
LESS AND EXCEPTING 
 
A part of the North Half of Section 16, Township 36 North, Range 6 East, Elkhart County, Indiana, 
and being that part of the City of Goshen's land lying within the right-of-way lines depicted on the 
attached Right-of-Way Parcel Plat, marked Exhibit A, described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the southwest corner of said half section; thence North 89 degrees 25 minutes 06 
seconds East 1,632.25 feet along the south line of said half section to the centerline of S.R. 119; 
thence along said centerline the following four (4) courses: (1) thence North 84 degrees 57 minutes 
04 seconds East 114.80 feet; (2) thence northeasterly 778.36 feet along an arc to the left having a 
radius of 1505.45 feet and being subtended by a long chord having a bearing of North 70 degrees 
08 minutes 22 seconds East and a length of 769.72 feet; (3) thence North 55 degrees 19 minutes 
30 seconds East 149.24 feet to the northwest corner of the City of Goshen's land and to the Point 
of Beginning of this description; (4) thence North 55 degrees 19 minutes 30 seconds East 116.35 
feet to the southern boundary of S.R. 119 described in Deed Book 297, Page 178 as recorded in 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 4 - 

the Elkhart County Recorder's Office; thence South 34 degrees 40 minutes 21 seconds East 270.00 
feet along said southern boundary to point "504" on said Parcel Plat; thence South 33 degrees 31 
minutes 34 seconds West 53.85 feet to point "505" as designated on said Parcel Plat; thence South 
55 degrees 19 minutes 39 seconds West 379.93 feet to the center of the Elkhart River and to the 
western line of the City of Goshen's land; thence North 1 degrees 19 minutes 20 seconds East 
74.16 feet along said center of Elkhart River and said western line to the point of beginning and 
containing 0.303 acres, more or less, inclusive of the presently existing right-of-way for S.R. 119, 
which contains 0.039 acres, more or less. 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 5 - 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PROJECT TRACT 
 
 
TRACT II: 
 
 
Legal Description – 411 W. Plymouth Avenue, Goshen, Indiana 
 
Commencing on the North line of Section Sixteen (16), in Township Thirty-six (36) North, Range 
Six (6) East, where the same intersects the West bank of the mill race of the Goshen Hydraulic 
Company; thence South along the meanderings of said bank to the Plymouth Road; thence West 
on the North line of the Plymouth Road to the thread or center of the Bayou, which formerly 
formed the bed of the Elkhart River; thence along the thread of the said old river bed to the present 
bank of the Elkhart River; thence Northwesterly along the East bank of the Elkhart River to where 
the same intersects the North line of said Section Sixteen (16); thence East to the place of 
beginning, containing about forty-six (46) acres of land, more or less.   
 
Also all that piece and parcel of land formerly owned and deeded by Josiah B. Cobb to Mathas 
Michael, by deed recorded in Deed Record 76, Pages 481 and 482, situate in Section Sixteen (16), 
Township Thirty-six (36) North, and Range Six (6) East, lying North of the Goshen and Plymouth 
Road and East of the Elkhart River between the old and new channel of said Elkhart River, 
containing about two (2) acres of land, more or less. 
 
LESS AND EXCEPTING that part conveyed to the State of Indiana, in Warranty Deed 2021-
28520, and more particularly described as follows: 
 
A part of the North Half of Section 16, Township 36 North, Range 6 East, Elkhart County, Indiana, 
and being that part of the grantor's land lying within the right-of-way lines depicted on the attached  
Right-of-Way Parcel Plat, marked EXHIBIT "B", described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the southwest corner of said half section; thence North 89 degrees 25 minutes 06 
seconds East 1,632.25 feet along the south line of said half section to the centerline of S.R. 119; 
thence along said centerline the following three (3) courses: (1) thence North 84 degrees 57 
minutes 04 seconds East 114.80 feet; (2) thence northeasterly 778.36 feet along an arc to the left 
having a radius of 1,505.45 feet and being subtended by a long chord having a bearing of North 
70 degrees 08 minutes 22 seconds East and a length of 769.72 feet; (3) thence North 55 degrees 
19 minutes 39 seconds East 149.24 feet to the southwest corner of the grantor's land and to the 
center of the Elkhart River and to the Point of Beginning of this description: thence North 23 
degrees 44 minutes 01 second West 40.74 feet along the western line of the grantor's land and said 
center of the Elkhart River to point "502" as designated on said Parcel Plat; thence North 55 
degrees 19 minutes 39 seconds East 108.62 feet to the northern boundary of S.R. 119 described in 
Deed Book 297, Page 178 as recorded in the Elkhart County Recorder's Office and to point "503" 
as designated on said Parcel Plat; thence South 34 degrees 40 minutes 21 seconds East 40.00 feet 
along said northern boundary to said centerline of S.R. 119; thence South 55 degrees 19 minutes 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 6 - 

39 seconds West 116.35 feet along said centerline to the point of beginning and containing 0.103 
acres, more or less, inclusive of the presently existing right-of-way for S.R. 119, which contains 
0.037 acres, more or less. 
 
Subject to all easements, rights-of-way and restrictions of record. 
 
Parcel Nos. 20-11-16-177-001.000-015 and 20-11-16-126-001.000-015 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 7 - 

ADDENDUM #1 TO LEASE 
 

Between Goshen Municipal Building Corporation 
and 

City of Goshen, Indiana 
Executed on _______________________, 2025 

 
WHEREAS, the Goshen Municipal Building Corporation ("Corporation"), an Indiana 

corporation, entered into a lease with the City of Goshen, Indiana, dated 

_____________________, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, it is provided in said lease that there shall be endorsed thereon the name of 

the financial institution selected to serve as Trustee under the Trust Indenture between it and the 

Corporation; and 

WHEREAS, it is provided in said lease that there shall be endorsed thereon the reduced 

rental; now therefore; 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED AND STIPULATED BY ALL OF THE UNDERSIGNED, 

THAT: 

1. The Goshen Municipal Building Corporation acquired interest in the Interim Tracts 

described in the Lease on ___________, 2025. 

2. The financial institution selected by the Corporation to be the Trustee under the Trust 

Indenture between it and the Corporation is _______________________, and its address for 

notices is Attention: Corporate Trust Department, _______________________, ____________, 

_________ ________________. 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFIED AND STIPULATED by all of the undersigned 

that the sum of principal and interest due in each calendar year, the reduced annual rental, and the 

semiannual installments are attached as Schedule A. 



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 8 - 

Executed this _____ day of ___________________, 2025. 

 GOSHEN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 
CORPORATION 
 
 
 
By:  ________________________________ 

              President 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Secretary 
 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 
       By:  ________________________________ 
              Mayor 
 
(Seal) 
 
Attest: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Clerk-Treasurer 
 



 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 
 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said City and State, personally 
appeared ________________________ and ________________________, personally known to 
me to be the President and Secretary, respectively, of the Goshen Municipal Building Corporation, 
and acknowledged the execution of the foregoing Lease for and on behalf of said Corporation. 

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this _____ day of _____________, 2025. 

 
      ____________________________________ 
      (Written Signature) 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      (Printed Name) 
(Seal) 
 
Notary Public 
 
My Commission Expires: My County of Residence: 
 
______________________ ______________________ 
 
 
My Commission Number: 
 
 
_______________________



 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 
 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said City and State, personally 
appeared Gina Leichty and Richard R. Aguirre, personally known to me to be the Mayor and 
Clerk-Treasurer, respectively, of the City of Goshen, Indiana, and acknowledged the execution of 
the foregoing Lease for and on behalf of said City. 

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this ____ day of _____________, 2025. 

 
      ____________________________________ 
      (Written Signature) 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      (Printed Name) 
(Seal) 
 
Notary Public 
 
My Commission Expires: My County of Residence: 
 
______________________ ______________________ 
 
My Commission Number: 
 
 
_____________________ 
 

I affirm, under the penalties for perjury, that I have taken reasonable care to redact each 
social security number in this document, unless required by law.  Lisa A. Lee 

 
 
 
 
 
This instrument was prepared by Lisa A. Lee, Ice Miller LLP, One American Square, Suite 2900, 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46282. 
 



 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 
 

SCHEDULE A 
 

Lease Rental Schedule 
 

(Attached)



 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 
 

ADDENDUM #2 TO LEASE 
 

Between Goshen Municipal Building Corporation 
and 

City of Goshen, Indiana 
Executed on ___________________, 20__ 

 
WHEREAS, the Goshen Municipal Building Corporation, an Indiana corporation, entered 

into a lease with City of Goshen, Indiana, dated ___________________________, 2025, which 

lease was recorded on ________________, 2025, in the Office of the Recorder of Elkhart County, 

Indiana, as Document Number ____________________; and 

WHEREAS, it is provided in Section 1 of said lease that the date the Project Tract is 

acquired and ready for use shall be endorsed thereon by the parties thereto; now therefore; 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFIED AND STIPULATED by all of the undersigned 

that the Project Tract is acquired and ready for occupancy on this ______ day of 

_________________, 2025. 

Executed this ______ day of ____________________, 2025. 

      LESSOR 
    

GOSHEN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 
CORPORATION 

 
 
      By:_________________________________ 
       President 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
Secretary 
 
  



 

 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 

- 2 - 

      LESSEE 
 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 
      By: _____________________________ 
             Mayor 
 
 
(Seal) 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
By: ______________________________  
       Clerk-Treasurer 



 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 
 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said City and State, personally 
appeared _______________________ and __________________, personally known to me to be 
the President and Secretary, respectively, of the Goshen Municipal Building Corporation, and 
acknowledged the execution of the foregoing Lease for and on behalf of said Corporation. 

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this ______ day of _________________, 202___. 

 
      ____________________________________ 
      (Written Signature) 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      (Printed Name) 
(Seal) 
 
Notary Public 
 
My Commission Expires: My County of Residence: 
 
 
______________________ ______________________ 
 

My Commission Number: 

______________________ 

 



 

 
4933-9902-3891.1 
 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said City and State, personally 
appeared ____________________ and ____________________, personally known to me to be 
the Mayor and Clerk-Treasurer, respectively, of the City of Goshen, Indiana, and acknowledged 
the execution of the foregoing Lease for and on behalf of said City. 

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this ______ day of ______________, 202___. 

 
      ____________________________________ 
      (Written Signature) 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      (Printed Name) 
(Seal) 
 
Notary Public 
 
My Commission Expires: My County of Residence: 
 
______________________ ______________________ 
 
My Commission Number: 
 
 
________________________________ 
 

I affirm, under the penalties for perjury, that I have taken reasonable care to redact each 
social security number in this document, unless required by law.  Lisa A. Lee 

 
 
 
This instrument was prepared by Lisa A. Lee, Ice Miller LLP, One American Square, Suite 2900, 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46282. 



Page 1 of 7 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 5216 
 

County Road 40 Annexation 
 
 Whereas, pursuant to Resolution 2025-01, a Resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Goshen, and Indiana Code § 36-4-3-5.1, one hundred percent (100%) of the 
landowners of the real estate described in this ordinance have petitioned the Goshen 
Common Council to adopt an ordinance to annex the real estate as described in the legal 
description attached to this ordinance as Exhibit A and identified on the map attached to this 
ordinance as Exhibit B, hereinafter referred to as the “Annexation Area.” 
 
 Whereas, at least one-eight (1/8) of the aggregate external boundaries of the 
Annexation Area are contiguous with the corporate limits of the City of Goshen. 
 
 Whereas, the Annexation Area is municipally owned, is or will be zoned A-1, and will 
be used for the construction and operation of the New South Fire Station, a critical public 
safety facility to the City of Goshen and its residents. 
 
 Whereas, a written fiscal plan and policy has been developed for the Annexation Area 
and adopted by resolution of the Goshen Common Council. 
 
 Whereas, the Annexation Area is a logical extension of the City’s corporate 
boundaries and the area is needed and can be used for the continued development and 
managed growth of the City of Goshen. 
 
 Whereas, pursuant to notice given, the Goshen Common Council conducted a public 
hearing in which all interested parties were given the opportunity to testify on the proposed 
annexation. 
 
 Now, Therefore, Be It Ordained by the Goshen Common Council that: 
 
SECTION 1. Annexation Area Described; Acreage. 
 

(A) The real estate consists of a single parcel of approximately eight (8) acres, owned 
by the City of Goshen, Indiana, located at 17120 County Road 40, more 



Page 2 of 7 
 

particularly described in the Legal Description attached to this Ordinance as 
Exhibit A and identified on the map attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit B. The 
real estate described in Exhibit A and depicted in Exhibit B shall hereinafter be 
referred to as the “Annexation Area.” 
 

(B) The Annexation Area also includes any public highway and rights-of-way of the 
public highway that are contiguous to the Annexation Area to the extent required 
by Indiana Code § 36-4-3-2.5. said public highways include approximately Seven 
Hundred Forty-four (744) feet of County Road 40. 

 
(C) The total acreage of the Annexation Area is approximately 8.14 acres, more or 

less. 
 

SECTION 2.  Zoning. 
 

(A) The Annexation Area will be zoned as A-1 Agricultural District upon the effective 
date of annexation into the City of Goshen. 

 
SECTION 3.  Council District. 
 

(A) The Annexation Area is assigned to Goshen City Council District Five (5). 
 
SECTION 4.  Effective Date. 
 

(A) The effective date of the annexation of the real estate identified as the Annexation 
Area shall be at least thirty (30) days after the adoption of the annexation 
ordinance and publication of notice, and upon the filing and recording of the 
ordinance pursuant to Indiana Code § 36-4-3-22(a), but in no event before April 
24, 2025. 

 
SECTION 5.  Filing and Recording of Ordinance. 
 

(A) This ordinance shall be filed with the Auditor of Elkhart County, the Circuit Court 
Clerk of Elkhart County, the Board of Registration of Elkhart County, the Office of 
the Secretary of State, and the Office of Census Data established by Indiana Code 



Page 3 of 7 
 

§ 2-5-1.1-12, and recorded in the Office of the Elkhart County Recorder pursuant 
to Indiana Code § 36-4-3-22. 

 
 

[Continued on next page.] 
  



Page 4 of 7 
 

Exhibit A – Legal Description 
 
A part of the north east quarter (NE ¼) of section thirty-five (35), Township thirty-six (36) North, 
Range six (6) East, Elkhart County, Indiana more particularly described as follows: 
 
Commencing at an iron stake in the center line of County Road Number 40 said iron stake being set 
in concrete and marking the north east (NE) corner of the north east quarter (NE ¼) of section thirty-
five (35) Township thirty-six (36) North, Range six (6) East, Elkhart County, Indiana; thence due west 
along the north line of the north east quarter of section thirty five and along the center line of County 
Road Number 40, sixteen and five tenths (16.5) feet to the place of beginning of this description; 
thence south zero (0) degrees one (1) minute east, one-thousand one hundred seventy-six and two 
tenths (1176.2) feet; thence due west, two hundred forty-seven and five tenths (247.5) feet; thence 
north zero (0) degrees one (1) minute east, one hundred sixty-five (165) feet; thence due west, two 
thousand three hundred sixty-five and fifty-eight hundredths (2365.58) feet; thence north zero (0) 
degrees one (1) minute east, one thousand eleven and two tenths (1011.2) feet; thence due east, three 
hundred thirty (330) feet; thence north zero (0) degrees one (1) minute east, one hundred thirty (130) 
feet; thence due east, one thousand five hundred thirty-six (1536) feet; thence north zero (0) degrees 
one (1) minute east, two hundred (200) feet to a PK nail in the center line of County Road Number 40 
and a point on the north line of the north east quarter of section thirty-five; thence east along the 
center line of County Road Number 40, seven hundred forty-six and thirty one-hundredths (746.31) 
feet to the place of beginning of this description. 
 
LESS AND EXCEPTING: 
 
A part of the Northeast Quarter (NE ¼) of Section Thirty-five (35), Township Thirty-six (36) North, 
Range Six (6) East, Elkhart Township, Elkhart County, Indiana, more particularly described as follows: 
 
Commencing at a Harrison Monument marking the northeast corner of the Northeast ¼ of said 
Section 35; thence South 89 degrees 56 minutes 24 seconds West (assumed bearing) along the north 
line of said Northeast ¼, a distance of 16.50 feet; thence South 00 degrees 03 minutes 00 seconds 
East along the west line of land owned by the City of Goshen (Instrument #98-013936), a distance of 
362.51 feet to a rebar with cap marked Brads-Ko 0041 and the beginning of this description; thence 

 
1) Continuing South 00 degrees 03 minutes 00 seconds East along said City of Goshen 
property, a distance of 799.07 feet to the northeast corner of said City land; thence 
 
2) South 89 degrees 52 minutes 27 seconds West along the north line of said City land, a 
distance of 247.50 feet to a ¾ inch rebar; thence 



Page 5 of 7 
 

 
3) South 00 degrees 03 minutes 00 seconds East parallel with the east line of said Northeast 
¼, a distance of 165.00 feet to a rebar with cap marked Brads-Ko S0484 in the south line of 
the North ½ of said Northeast ¼; thence 
 
4) South 89 degrees 52 minutes 27 seconds West along said south line, a distance of 2,358.51 
feet to a rebar with cap marked Brads-Ko 0041 in the west line of said Northeast ¼; thence 
 
5) North 00 degrees 01 minute 03 seconds West along said west line, a distance of 999.59 
feet to the southwest corner of land owned by Stephen E. and Virginia M. Ciesielski 
(Instrument #89-022529); thence 
 
6) North 89 degrees 56 minutes 24 seconds East along the south line of said Ciesielski land 
and its easterly extension and parallel with the north line of said Northeast ¼, a distance of 
331.60 feet to a rebar with cap marked Brads-Ko 0041 at the southeast corner of land owned 
by Phillip C. and April Nusbaum (Instrument #2001-24997); thence 
 
7) North 00 degrees 17 minutes 24 seconds West along the east line of said Nusbaum land, a 
distance of 130.01 feet to the southwest corner of land owned by Donald E. and Elizabeth I. 
Thompson (Deed Record 268, Page 693); thence 
 
8) North 89 degrees 56 minutes 24 seconds East parallel with the north line of said Northeast 
¼ and along the south line of said Thompson land and its easterly extension, a distance of 
1,386.00 feet to the southeast corner of land owned by Max and Marilyn Joy Fiandt (Deed 
Record 259, Page 578); thence 
 
9) South 00 degrees 17 minutes 24 seconds East along the southerly extension of the east line 
of said Fiandt land, a distance of 162.51 feet to a rebar with cap marked Brads-Ko 0041; 
thence 
 
10) North 89 degrees 56 minutes 24 seconds East parallel with the north line of said Northeast 
¼, a distance of 894.06 feet to the beginning. 
 
Subject to all other easements, restrictions and public rights-of-way of record. 

  
Being tax code number 20-11-35-200-019.000-014. 
 

  



Page 6 of 7 
 

Exhibit B – Map 
 

 
  



Page 7 of 7 
 

 PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on      , 2025. 
 
 
 
              
       Presiding Officer 
 
ATTESTED: 
 
 
       
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on _____________________, 2025 
at ______ a.m./p.m. 
 
 
              
       Richard. R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED on _______________________, 2025. 
 
 
              
       Gina M. Leichty, Mayor 
 
 
This ordinance prepared by Donald R. Shuler, Assistant City Attorney, City of Goshen Legal Department, 204 
East Jefferson Street, Suite 2, Goshen, Indiana 46528. 
 
I affirm, under the penalties for perjury, that I have taken reasonable care to redact each social security number 
in this document, unless required by law (Donald R. Shuler). 


	00-A-2025-3-24 Council-agenda
	00-B-2024-12-16 Council-minutes
	01 2025 02 Council Memo
	02 ORD 5219, Establishing a Mobile Integrated Health Fund
	03 ORD 5218, Amend Ord 5198, Section 16 (20250324)
	04 Goshen Lease  (Pool) - Notice of Public Hearing on Lease (4934-6659-7395
	05 RES 2025-06, Approving and Authorizing the Execution of a Lease Agreement
	2025.02.05 Lease Agreement.pdf
	1. Premises, Term and Warranty.  The Lessor does hereby lease, demise and let to Lessee the real estate in the City more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, consisting of City owned buildings located at 320 Steu...
	1. Rental Payments.  With regard to the Interim Tracts, the Lessee agrees to pay rental at the maximum annual rate of $1,200,000, payable semiannually on January 15 and July 15 ("Interim Rentals"), January 15, 2026 through and including January 15, 20...
	2. Additional Rental Payments.  The Lessee shall pay as further rental for the Leased Premises all taxes and assessments levied against or on account of the Leased Premises and/or the receipt of lease rental payments.  Any and all such payments shall ...
	3. Abatement of Rent.  In the event the Leased Premises shall be partially or totally destroyed, whether by fire or any other casualty, or are taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain, so as render them unfit, in whole or part, for use ...
	4. Maintenance, Alterations and Repairs.  The Lessee assumes all responsibility for maintenance, repairs and alterations to the Leased Premises.  At the end of the term, Lessee shall deliver the Leased Premises to Lessor in as good condition as at the...
	5. Insurance.  Lessee, at its own expense, will, during the full term of the Lease, keep the Leased Premises insured against physical loss or damage, however caused, with such exceptions as are ordinarily required by insurers of buildings or facilitie...
	6. Eminent Domain.  If title to or the temporary use of the Leased Premises, or any part thereof, shall be taken under the exercise of the power of eminent domain by any governmental body or by any person, firm or corporation acting under governmental...
	(a)   The restoration of the Leased Premises to substantially the same condition as it existed prior to the exercise of said power of eminent domain, or
	(b)   The acquisition, by construction or otherwise, of other improvements suitable for the Lessee's operations on the Leased Premises and which are in furtherance of the purposes of Indiana Code, Title 36, Article 1, Chapter 10 (which improvements sh...

	7. General Covenants.  The Lessee shall not assign this Lease or sublet the Leased Premises herein described without the written consent of Lessor.  Lessee shall use and maintain the Leased Premises in accordance with the laws and ordinances of the Un...
	8. Option to Renew.  Lessor hereby grants to Lessee the right and option to renew this Lease for a further like or lesser term upon the same or like conditions as herein contained, and applicable to the portion of the premises for which the renewal ap...
	9. Option to Purchase.  Lessor hereby grants to Lessee the right and option, on any rental payment date, upon sixty (60) days' written notice to Lessor, to purchase the Leased Premises at a price equal to the amount required to enable Lessor to liquid...
	10. Transfer to Lessee.  In the event the Lessee has not exercised its option to renew in accordance with the provisions of Section 9 hereof, and has not exercised its option to purchase the Leased Premises in accordance with the provisions of Section...
	11. Defaults.  If the Lessee shall default (a) in the payment of any rentals or other sums payable to the Lessor hereunder, or in the payment of any other sum herein required to be paid for the Lessor; or (b) in the observance of any other covenant, a...
	12. Notices.  Whenever either party shall be required to give notice to the other under this Lease, it shall be sufficient service of such notice to deposit the same in the United States mail, in an envelope duly stamped, registered and addressed to t...
	13. Successors or Assigns.  All covenants of this Lease, whether by Lessor or Lessee, shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the respective parties hereto.
	14. Construction of Covenants.  Lessor was organized for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, renovating and leasing governmental buildings and leasing the same to Lessee under the provisions of Indiana Code, Title 36, Article 1, Chapter 10.  All p...


	06 2025.02.24 ORD. 5216_Annexation of County Road 40 Real Estate
	Exhibit A – Legal Description


